



offield

This project has received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme for research, technological development and demonstration under grant agreement no 320223

Publication 4

Early School Leaving: Risk and Protective Factors

Findings from the RESL.eu international survey

Final Version, 2017-05-30

Responsible institutions:	Middlesex University, London, UK University of Sheffield, UK	
Authors:	Neil Kaye (Middlesex University) Alessio D'Angelo (Middlesex University) Louise Ryan (University of Sheffield) Magdolna Lőrinc (Middlesex University)	
Acknowledgements:	University of Antwerp, Belgium Christiane Timmerman Noel Clycq Ward Nouwen Lore Van Praag Rut Van Caudenberg	University of Warsaw, Poland Hanna Tomaszewska-Pękała Anna Wrona Paulina Marchlik Aleksandra Jasińska
	Erasmus University Rotterdam, Netherlands Maurice Crul Elif Keskiner Talitha Stam	University of Stockholm, Sweden Alireza Behtoui Isabella Strömberg Kajsa Rudberg
	University of Porto, Portugal Helena Araújo Eunice Macedo Sofia A. Santos Pedro Teixeira	Vienna University of Economics and Business, Austria Erna Nairz-Wirth Marie Gitschthaler Melanie Fraisl
	Autonomous University of Barcelona, Spain Silvia Carrasco Ábel Bereményi Laia Narciso Isidoro Ruíz	Central European University, Budapest, Hungary Julia Szalai Anges Kende
Universiteit Antwerpen	Stockholms Universiter Oraclaser of records Universiter Oraclaser of records Oraclaser of reco	CINER OF FOR POLICY STUDIES WEIGHT

Contents

Executive Summary	3
1 Introduction	5
2 Early School Leaving and the RESL.eu Project	6
3 The RESL.eu Survey	8
4 Key Concepts and Measures	11
4.1 Theoretical framework 4.2 Dependent variables 4.3 Independent variables and other key risk/protective factors	11 13 16
5 Findings of the Survey	20
5.1 ESL and other outcome variables 5.2 Predictors of Early School Leaving and related outcome variables	20 24
 5.2.1 Early School Leaving 5.2.2 Educational Expectations 5.2.3 School Engagement 5.2.4 Behavioural engagement (compliance behaviour at school) 5.2.5 Affective engagement (school belonging) 5.2.6 Cognitive engagement (academic self-regulation) 	
6 Insights from the Survey: challenges and contributions	
References	
Appendices	50

Executive Summary

This publication represents an exploratory effort to discuss the overall findings of the large-scale, quantitative survey undertaken in 7 European countries within the broader RESL.eu (Reducing Early School Leaving in Europe) research project. Particularly, it examines the role of some of the key factors associated with processes that lead to Early School Leaving (ESL) and, more generally, poor educational achievement. The analysis of the RESL.eu survey data presented here confirms that these processes are extremely complex. Even when looking just at the individual and institutional levels, ESL depends on the interaction of personal characteristics, family background, attitudes, and relationships. No individual variable is, on its own, enough of a risk or protective factor, but all contribute to determine the overall likelihood of an individual young person leaving secondary education without an upper secondary qualification. There are, furthermore, major variations across countries, partly related to distinct differences in national educational systems and socio-economic contexts. In addition, there are several important dimensions and characteristics (social class among those identified in the literature as most significant) that are not fully captured by the RESL.eu statistical models.

Nevertheless, it is possible to identify some dimensions that appear to play a major role irrespective of any contextual element:

- Among the most important predictors of *Early School Leaving* are students' levels of school engagement. Being a boy and having at least one foreign-born parent are also associated with a higher level of risk in most European countries. On the other hand, higher levels of parental expectations (which often represent a proxy of family background) represent one of the clearest protective factors.
- Early School Leavers are also more likely to report lower levels of educational aspiration and **educational expectations**. These, in turn, are highly correlated to the expectations of one's parents and teachers as perceived and reported in the midst of their school career.
- With *School Engagement* being one of the key dimensions involved in the processes leading to ESL, it is particularly important to look at the factors correlated with young people's level of engagement. These include the extent to which young people display a positive academic 'self-concept' and the level of support they perceive to receive from their teachers. School engagement can also be broken down into underpinning dimensions such as behavioural engagement (how well students behave at school), affective engagement (how much they feel they belong to the school) and cognitive engagement (how much effort and commitment they put into their studies); in particular:
 - Young men and those students reporting being bullied or victimized at school are also more likely to report lower levels of *Behavioural Engagement*.
 - The importance of student-teacher interaction is confirmed by the fact that students' perceived level of support from teachers is by far the most significant predictor of their sense of school belonging, or *Affective Engagement*.

 Key indicators predicting levels of students' *Cognitive Engagement* include their levels of truancy and the extent to which young people place value on their education towards achieving positive outcomes for the future.

Based on an unprecedented amount of empirical data collected on a large scale and using the same methodology across several different countries, the RESL.eu survey represents an important exercise in evidence-based theory testing. A significant proportion of the findings presented here support the body of knowledge built up over the years by local and national research and practice. However, the measurements and statistical models produced through the project make it possible to explore the role of individual components in a new and very detailed way, examining the differences and similarities between countries. In doing so, it is of course necessary to bear in mind the specificities of local contexts and take into consideration the various very important elements which cannot be captured by a quantitative research exercise of this kind. Some of these aspects will be further discussed in future publications arising from RESL.eu, focusing on specific aspects and national case studies and triangulating the survey results with the insights arising from the qualitative elements of the project.

With regard to policy and practice, the RESL.eu survey will contribute to the production of a set of toolkits for teachers and national practitioners, incorporating a revised version of the questionnaire to be used to identify young people at risk of becoming early school leavers as well as to monitor progress and the impact of specific measures and interventions. The toolkit will be piloted in a number of locations, working in partnership with schools and stakeholders, and will be part of 'knowledge-exchange' initiatives in the participating countries.

1 Introduction

Education furthers personal and professional development, facilitates adaptation to the labour market, and ultimately enables a certain level of quality of life in a world of constant change that is dominated by uncertainty about the future (European Commission, 2011). High rates of Early School Leaving (ESL), on the other hand, are widely recognised as having long-term effects on societal development and economic growth and have been identified as one of the major challenges faced in Europe (Dale, 2010). It is for this reason that the reduction of ESL to 10% by 2020 is one of the key targets of European Union education strategy.

The nature of the processes leading young people to become an early school leaver – i.e. leaving education without attaining at least upper-secondary education – are complex, influenced by the interaction of personal characteristics and behaviours, the family, social and institutional settings and other structural level factors at local and national level. This publication aims to contribute to the debates on the risk and protective factors linked to the processes leading to early school leaving by presenting an overview of the findings from an international, longitudinal survey undertaken within the EU-funded project RESL.eu (Reducing Early School Leaving in Europe).

Section 2 provides an overview of the RESL.eu project and is followed (section 3) by a discussion of the methodology and sample of our survey, which involved nearly 20,000 participants across 7 European countries. Section 4 is devoted to a discussion of the theoretical framework underpinning the study and how this was operationalised through questionnaire design and data collection. This is followed by a presentation of the main dependent and independent variables used in the survey and in the subsequent data analysis, explaining how these were informed by international literature on early school leaving and educational achievement. The limitations of the survey are then discussed, with particular regard to some key dimensions – such as class, migration background and institutional setting – which are known to play a major role but which could be explored only to a limited extent through a survey of this nature.

Section 5 presents the survey findings, starting with the overall levels of ESL and some key differences in the profiles of early school leavers and non-early school leavers across the various country samples (5.1). Sub-section 5.2 then goes on to present the key predictors of Early School Leaving and some key related outcome variables such as Educational Expectations, and School Engagement. The latter concept, as discussed in the theoretical framework, is particular important to understand processes of ESL and school achievement, so further analysis is presented of some of the dimensions underpinning the broader concept of School Engagement. Finally, section 6 presents a final, overall discussion of the survey findings, highlighting the strengths, as well as limitations, of the RESL.eu dataset, raising some important discussion points, identifying questions for further research but also presenting some implications for policy and practice.

2 Early School Leaving and the RESL.eu Project

RESL.eu – Reducing Early School Leaving in Europe – is an EU-funded project aiming to provide insights into the processes and mechanisms influencing students' decisions to leave education or training early. In addition, RESL.eu intends to identify and analyse prevention, intervention and compensation measures that can help to keep pupils in education or training until they attain at least an upper secondary educational qualification – equivalent to International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) level 3. The project's aim lies in the development of insightful, evidence-based conceptual models to predict and tackle early school leaving (ESL) and, finally, to disclose these insights to various target audiences at local, national and EU levels, thus informing policy and practice.

ESL is a concept introduced by the European political agenda (primarily through the *Lisbon Strategy*, and subsequently, *Europe 2020*), which is "intended to support a European strategy for skilled employment, economic growth, and mobility [whilst] this concept has also underpinned social cohesion and the combat against social exclusion" (Araújo *et al.*, 2013, p16). Early school leavers are defined as young people, "aged 18 to 24, who have completed at most lower secondary education and are not involved in further education or training" (Eurostat, 2017). The reduction of ESL provides an important tool in the promotion of equity, social cohesion and active citizenship on the one hand; and in the stimulation of economic growth and the creation of new skills, competencies and jobs on the other.

As illustrated by the table below, the current level of ESL in the European Union (10.7%) remains above the headline target of 10% (European Commission, 2010). There are wide disparities of ESL rates across countries: amongst the countries involved in RESL.eu, rates of ESL range from 5.2% in Poland to 19.0% in Spain. National targets for reducing early school leaving are therefore calibrated according to each country's starting point and set to ensure that they converge on the aggregate goal of 10% across the EU.

	ESI rata (2016)	National
	ESL Tale (2010)	target
EU (28 countries)	10.7%	10.0% ¹
Belgium	8.8%	9.5%
Spain	19.0%	15.0%
Hungary	12.4%	10.0%
Netherlands	8.0%	8.0%
Austria	6.9%	9.5%
Poland	5.2%	4.5%
Portugal	14.0%	10.0%
Sweden	7.4%	10.0%
United Kingdom	11.2%	no nat. target

Table 1: Early school leaving rates and national targets

¹ Europe 2020 headline target for EU Source: Eurostat, 2017, code: [tsdsc410]

Within this context, the RESL.eu project aims to contribute to the development and implementation of education policies and the transferability of country-specific good practices helping to reduce current rates of ESL to below the Europe 2020 target. In particular, the project builds upon existing practices to tackle ESL

and intends to develop innovative approaches for regular schools as well as for alternative learning arenas. In order to achieve this, RESL.eu seeks to advance the understanding of the mechanisms behind, the processes leading to and the trajectories following ESL through focussing on the actions, perceptions and discourses of all youngsters (both early school leavers and non-early school leavers), as well as those of their family, friends and teachers.

Funded through the Framework 7 Programme (FP7), the project operates over five years (2013-18) in nine EU member states (Belgium, the UK, Sweden, Portugal, the Netherlands, Poland, Spain, Hungary and Austria¹), with research being undertaken in two local urban areas per country, identified by the country teams on the basis of specific economic and socio-demographic indicators.

Further information about RESL.eu, its research components, the research teams, as well as an archive of downloadable publications, are available on the project website: www.resl-eu.org

3 The RESL.eu Survey

One of the key elements of the RESL.eu project was an international, longitudinal survey of young people, aiming at identifying risk and protective factors of early school leaving, as well as other related educational outcomes. The survey involved at least 1,500 participants in each of the seven RESL.eu countries, within two different research areas per country. The data collection took place in two survey waves. The 1st wave (Spring/Summer 2014) surveyed students currently in secondary education, asking a wide range of detailed questions on socio-demographic characteristics as well as behaviours, attitudes and perceptions related to education and training. In most cases, the survey was administered within the schools and colleges using an electronic interface. The 2nd wave took place two years later (Spring/Summer 2016) and was based on a much briefer questionnaire, designed to measure participants' trajectories from school towards further training, higher education of labour market insertion. This was primarily administered via email and telephone, using contact information collected in the first wave².

Overall 19,586 young people took part in the first wave of the survey, with 7,072 also responding to the follow-up survey two years later. The breakdown of participants by country is presented below in table 2. The schools and colleges selected to participate in the first RESL.eu survey were chosen on the basis of being located in areas of relatively high youth unemployment and/or areas with specific demographic or socioeconomic challenges. Whilst full academic-year cohorts in schools (two comparable cohorts per country³) were targeted to capture a cross-section of the student body in that area, the final country datasets cannot be seen as nationally-representative samples of young people. Similarly, the relatively high overall attrition rate between the first survey and the follow-up survey implies that there is a degree of self-selection bias, whereby it is expected that those young people who did complete the follow-up survey are more likely to be engaged and so vulnerable, disengaged or hard-to-reach young people are expected to be underrepresented in the sample.

	Students' survey respondents	Follow-up survey respondents	Retention rate
Belgium	2,790	1,289	46.2%
Netherlands	2,647	840	31.7%
Poland	3,148	1,512	48.0%
Portugal	2,223	1,035	46.6%
Spain	3,712	1,137	30.6%
Sweden	2,048	416	20.3%
UK	3,018	843	27.9%
All countries	19,586	7,072	36.1%

Table 2: Survey participants and retention rates by country

² In some countries, for the younger cohort – many of whom were still in education – the second wave was administered at schools/colleges in a similar manner to the first wave.

³ Cohorts were selected on the basis of academic year groups in relation to both the end of compulsory education in that country and the point at which students would 'usually' be expected to achieve an upper secondary level qualification. Further details of the academic year groups selected for each of the countries is discussed in RESL.eu Project Paper 5 (Kaye *et al.*, 2015).

Nonetheless, each sample has a high degree of diversity with regard to personal characteristics and profiles. For example, of the 19,586 participants in the first survey, 10,196 (52.4%) were female, 8,828 (45.4%) were in the older cohort, 7,756 (41.2%), had a migrant background (at least one parent born outside of country of survey), and 7,113 (36.3%) had parents working in a manual or elementary occupation. Of the 7,072 young people completing the follow-up survey, 4,048 (57.4%) were female, 2,951 (41.7%) were in the older cohort, 2,329 (33.8%) had a migrant background and 2,675 (37.8%) had parents working in a manual or elementary occupation. Female participants, those in the younger cohort, those who do not have a migrant background and those with parents working in professional occupations, therefore, were overrepresented in the follow-up survey. Statistical tests showed these differences to be statistically significant.

	Students' survey respondents (N=19,586)		Follow-u respo (<i>N</i> =7	up survey ndents 7,072)	
	N	valid %	Ν	valid %	
Gender					
Male	9,275	47.6%	3,010	42.6%	
Female	10,196	52.4%	4,048	57.4%	
Year group					
Cohort 1	10,691	54.6%	4,120	58.3%	
Cohort 2	8,828	45.4%	2,951	41.7%	
Migrant status					
Native background	11,073	58.8%	4,563	66.2%	
Migrant background	7,756	41.2%	2,329	33.8%	
Parental occupational status					
Professional	5,176	33.8%	2,095	35.3%	
Technical	3,029	19.8%	1,170	19.7%	
Manual and Elementary	7,113	46.4%	2,675	45.0%	

Table 3: Socio-demographic characteristics of survey respondents

Some theoretical and methodological issues related to the measurement and analysis of some these dimensions are discussed in section 4.3. Overall, it is important to highlight that, like all statistical models, the one produced through the RESL.eu questionnaire can only shed light on the role of those particular variables that could be measured in a meaningful and reliable way. Therefore its findings need to be examined taking into consideration the role of the various additional and contextual factors which were not part of the survey.

Despite these methodological limitations, the national and international (aggregate) RESL.eu dataset represent an insightful and innovative source of evidence on the way in which young people's characteristics, behaviours, experiences and educational outcomes interact with each other and the relative importance of each of these. The next section will summarise the theoretical framework which informed the RESL.eu research and will explain how key components of this were 'measured' through the longitudinal survey. A brief overview of the sample characteristics is then followed by the analysis of the findings, presenting a number of statistical models describing the complex relationship between young people's characteristics, perceptions and behaviour on the one hand, and key educational outcomes (including ESL) on the other. The concluding section, by summarising the key findings of the study, also discusses the possible practical applications of our results as well as highlighting future research avenues.

4 Key Concepts and Measures

4.1 Theoretical framework

The RESL.eu project approaches the process of early school leaving from a multilevel perspective, within which three nested levels – the individual, the social-institutional and the structural/systemic – play key and intersecting roles influencing an individual young person's trajectory through the school. This approach has been highlighted as an 'all-factors' framework or 'tripartite' approach in previous studies on early school leaving (Dale, 2010; Lamb *et al.*, 2011).

This theoretical framework has informed the project's conceptual model (see Clycq *et al.*, 2014), illustrated below, within which our research has sought to identify and analyse the interplay between risk and protective factors for ESL by focusing on the role of social and cultural capital, the school environment and practices, and an individual's self-perception and experiences throughout their educational career. This model highlights the link between the structural 'macro' context and an individual's trajectory towards early school leaving ('micro' level), mediated by their experiences in his/her school, alternative learning arena, family, peer group and community ('meso' level).





The RESL.eu survey in schools and follow-up survey of the same young people has allowed the study to explore the relationship between factors at each of the three intersecting levels and the extent to which statistical analysis of the survey data can uncover significant predictors of young people's trajectories to-wards school disengagement and early school leaving.

The analysis undertaken below is guided by one of the RESL.eu project's over-arching research questions, which asks:

How does the complex and often subtle interplay of factors on a macro-, meso- and micro-level predict early school leaving?

In order to make sense of the concepts contained at each of the structural, institutional and individual levels within the model, the survey questionnaire operationalised some of these key concepts by collecting the specific measurements (variables) summarised in figure 2 below. The 'measurable' model thus produced focused on Early School Leaving as the key outcome variable and included a wide range of other important characteristics and dimensions which are discussed below. The questionnaire design, informed by the theoretical framework, the wider literature and existing survey tools used by practitioners and academics, was undertaken collaboratively within the international RESL.eu team to ensure all questions were relevant to the national contexts and allow for full international comparability. This process also required a selection of what and how many questions could be included in order to keep the questionnaire to a manageable length and also an acknowledgement of all those dimensions which, albeit particularly relevant, could not be measured in an appropriate and reliable way through a tool of this kind. As further discussed below, these include important background characteristics such as class, various indicators of economic status, as well as the national and local contexts and the specificities of the school settings.





Given the focus of our international project, **Early School Leaving** – measured as a binary outcome variable – was the primary dependent variable upon which the survey analysis was focused. However, it also proved beneficial to run statistical analyses using the concept of **School Engagement** – and the components contained within it – to uncover further relationships between individual variables and the extent to which a young person has begun along the path towards disengaging from school, shown to be part of an on-going process towards early school leaving (Finn, 1989; Alexander *et al.*, 2001; Rumberger & Lim, 2008; Dale, 2010).

School engagement, therefore, is a useful concept for identifying those young people who do – or do not – participate actively in their educational career. As such, school engagement is discussed at length in the literature on early school leaving (Davalos *et al.*, 1999; Fall & Roberts, 2012; Ferguson *et al.*, 2005; Lamb *et al.*, 2011; Elffers *et al.*, 2012; Skinner & Pitzer, 2012) and has been the primary subject of a number of em-

pirical studies (Newmann, 1992; Lamb *et al.*, 2004; Rumberger, 2004; Janosz *et al.*, 2008; Wang & Fredricks, 2014).

Moreover, several authors (Jimerson *et al.*, 2003; Fredricks *et al.*, 2004; Appleton *et al.*, 2008; Archambault *et al.*, 2009; Wang & Eccles, 2012) have identified school engagement as a multidimensional construct of three connected yet discrete 'forms' of engagement: behavioural, affective (or emotional) and cognitive engagement. The first of these dimensions "encompasses students' effort, persistence, participation, and compliance with school structures" (Davis *et al.*, 2012, p23); affective, or emotional engagement relates to the extent which students feel a sense of belonging towards their school; whilst cognitive engagement concerns the level of engagement students have in completing their schoolwork. Beyond levels of effort in doing their work, cognitive engagement implies a degree of self-regulated learning towards increasing their understanding and competencies (Greene *et al.*, 2004; Fredricks *et al.*, 2004).

For this reason, the subsequent analysis of the RESL.eu survey focuses on six dependent variables (or 'target variables'): early school leaving (DV1); educational expectations (DV2; students' aspirations towards their own educational attainment); school engagement (DV3), and three of its components: behavioural engagement (DV4), affective engagement (DV5) and cognitive engagement (DV6). How each of these dependent variables are operationalised and measured is outlined below.

4.2 Dependent variables

The empirical results of the survey analysis are presented as a series of regression models , i.e. statistical models exploring the relative importance of a number of other 'independent variables' (IVs) – such as background characteristics, behaviours, and perceptions – as predictive factors of the 'dependent variables' (DVs). For each of the six dependent variables described above, bivariate correlations were explored at the level of individual national samples and those independent variables (IVs) displaying the strongest correlations with the dependent variable were included in the model⁴.

The final regression analysis was then run at aggregate dataset level and, subsequently, at the level of the individual national samples to identify which variables are predictors of the DV for the dataset overall and whether certain IVs are significant predictors for the national datasets.

As mentioned above, the six DVs include not only the project's principal outcome variable of Early School Leaving, but also variables which are closely related to the on-going processes that are associated with a greater propensity to leave education or training early.

• **Early School Leaving** is a dichotomous variable (coded as 0=not an early school leaver; 1=early school leaver), which indicates whether, at the time-point of the follow-up survey, participants could be classified as an early school leaver – i.e. participants who are not currently undertaking any education or

⁴ Methodological note: The bivariate correlation analysis was instrumental in reducing the vast number of potential independent variables (IVs) selected for inclusion in the final regression models. The RESL.eu survey collected data on more than 100 key variables, including demographic data, information about educational trajectories and aspirations, individual motivations and attitudes and perceptions of support and expectations of parents, teachers and peers (see Kaye et al., 2015). IVs with the strongest correlations with each of the dependent variables and which were sufficiently strong in the majority of country samples were included and analysed in the final models.

training and who have not achieved an upper secondary-level qualification (Eurostat, 2017). Only participants responding to the follow-up survey are coded and included in the analysis.

- *Educational Expectations* is a continuous variable, constructed as a composite index on a 9-point scale. Young people's expectations (as opposed to aspirations), concern a 'perceived likelihood of success' (Brookover et al., 1967) and, in relation to educational attainment, has been shown to correlate with individuals' future educational achievement (Buchmann & Dalton, 2002). The Educational Expectations index, as employed by Behtoui (2016), was derived from participants' responses to the questions: "What is the highest level of qualification you are aiming to achieve before leaving full-time education?" - measured using the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED; 1=I don't know, 2=ISCED 0-1, 3=ISCED 3C, 4=ISCED 3A/B, 5=ISCED 4 or above⁵) – and: "How likely do you think it is that you will achieve your desired level of education?', with four alternative answers (Not at all likely, Not very likely, Fairly likely, Very likely). The final index scored respondents who answered 'Fairly likely', or 'Very likely' to the second question higher than those who answered 'Not at all likely', or 'Not very likely' for each of level of educational qualification. Those answering 'I don't know' to the first question are coded '1', whilst those answering 'ISCED 4 or above' to the first question, and either 'Fairly likely' or 'Very likely' to the second question are coded '9'. The questions from which Educational Expectations variable are derived were included in the first students' survey: all those who provided a valid response to both questions are included in the analysis.
- School Engagement is a continuous variable, which measures participants' mean score on a 21-item composite scale. The items, each rated on a five-point scale, were included in the measure on the basis of factor analysis undertaken on the first students' survey (see Kaye *et al.*, 2015). School engagement emerged from this analysis as a second-order factor; a composite of six first-order factors: school belonging, importance of education, academic self-regulation, academic resilience, compliance behaviour at school and attentiveness at school. The reliability coefficient of the 21-item school engagement scale is .83 and the mean scores range from 1 to 5.

Further analysis of the survey explores first-order factors within the over-arching school engagement scale that correspond to these different levels of engagement:

- **Behavioural Engagement** is a continuous variable, which measures participants' mean score on a 3item composite scale. Each of the survey items measures the extent to which students display poor discipline, bad behaviour or violence at school on a five-point scale, which are then reverse-scored to obtain a mean score for behavioural engagement (higher scores indicating more compliant behaviour). The reliability coefficient for this 3-item scale is .82 and the mean scores range from 1 to 5.
- Affective Engagement is a continuous variable, measuring participants' responses to 3 survey items relating to school belonging: 'I think this is a good school', 'I feel like a real part of this school' and 'I would recommend to other kids that they go to this school' (adapted from Wang *et al.*, 2011). Answers are measured on a five-point scale (Cronbach's alpha = .87), with mean scores for affective engagement ranging from 1 to 5.

⁵ The response options for this question used national-specific educational qualifications for each country's survey before being converted into the international standard classification of education (ISCED-97) at the data analysis stage

• **Cognitive Engagement** is a continuous variable, comprising the mean score of responses to 6 survey items measuring participants' levels of academic self-regulation. These items relate to the amount of time and effort students put into their schoolwork as well as the extent to which they employ self-regulated learning strategies when undertaking their academic studies (adapted from McCoach, 2002 and Wang *et al.*, 2011). Responses to each of the six items are measured on a five-point Likert scale and the mean scores range from 1 to 5. The reliability coefficient for the six-item cognitive engagement scale is .84.

Descriptive statistics for each of the scale variables detailed above are provided in table 4, below. In addition, for the sake of completion, statistics are given for the three further subscales which contribute as components of the overall school engagement scale: academic resilience, importance of education and school attentiveness⁶. However, the analysis which follows focuses (in addition to early school leaving and educational expectations) on school engagement as an overarching concept and the three subscales which are conceptualised as aligning most closely to its behavioural, affective and cognitive dimensions.

Table 4: Descriptive statistics for scale variables:

	N	Min	Max	Mean	St Dev
Educational Expectations (=DV2)	18,038	1.00	9.00	7.55	2.26
School Engagement (=DV3)	16,752	1.00	5.00	3.65	0.49
Behavioural engagement (Compliance behaviour at school) <i>(=DV4)</i>	18,123	1.00	5.00	4.47	0.78
Affective engagement (School belonging) (=DV5)	18,588	1.00	5.00	3.57	1.01
Cognitive engagement (Academic self-regulation) (=DV6)	18,309	1.00	5.00	3.36	0.80
Academic resilience	18,545	1.00	5.00	3.40	0.79
Importance of education	18,419	1.00	5.00	4.14	0.76
Attentiveness at school	18,687	1.00	5.00	3.19	1.03

⁶ see Kaye *et al.* 2015 for further information on the composition of the statistical scales

4.3 Independent variables and other key risk/protective factors

Overall, the RESL.eu survey included over 80 questions, with some minor variations across countries. In addition to the key Dependent Variables identified above, key variables collected included:

- Basic demographic characteristics, such as gender, age, country of birth and family composition;
- Information about young people's school life: their previous educational trajectory, current studies, attitudes to their teachers and schooling in general, and their future educational aspirations;
- Information about young people's family and home life, including their attitudes towards their parents, siblings and the areas in which they live;
- Information on their peer group, including their interaction with peers at school, the demographic composition of their friendship group, and their aspirations beyond education;
- Young people's self-reported future plans in terms of further education and training, and occupational aspirations.

As mentioned above, all these variables were included in the survey because – on the basis of our theoretical framework and the wider academic literature – they are deemed to have, to a greater or lesser extent, a relevant impact in the processes leading to ESL. In particular, the presence or absence of certain characteristics can increase the risk that a young person may end up leaving school early. However the complex interactions between factors makes it difficult to identify those that, on their own, can univocally be identified as being 'risk' or 'protective' factors.

Different variables are included in each of the statistical models presented in this publication. In the initial stages of data analysis, all variables underwent bivariate correlation analysis with our key Dependent Variables on the level of individual country samples. As standard practice in this type of statistical analysis, the final multivariate models (presented in the next section) include, for each Dependent Variable, only those Independent Variables that showed an acceptable level of statistical significance (p < 0.05), with a minimum coefficient of correlation ($r \ge .200$), in the majority of the national sample datasets.

In other words, it is important to highlight that the Independent Variables listed and analysed for each of the regression models presented in the next sections have not been arbitrary 'chosen' by the authors, but included on the basis of statistical patterns emerging from the analysis of the specific RESL.eu dataset. Moreover, this does not mean that – in general terms – none of the other variables matters. On the contrary, we know from extensive literature that there are several other factors and dimensions that could not be measured through the survey or that did not fit the statistical models but that still play a major role in affecting the educational pathways of individual young people.

In particular, much previous research on educational attainment, school engagement and early school leaving has highlighted the importance of social class, migration background and ethnicity, and institutional settings as key protective or risk factors playing a role in a young person's academic success – or failure. These are discussed in the next few sections.

Class and SES

Socio-economic background (or socio-economic status – SES) is widely regarded as one of the strongest predictors of academic achievement (Reay, 2006; Berkowitz *et al.*, 2017). More generally, the role of social class in shaping young people's educational aspirations, experiences and attainment has been discussed by many sociologists across many countries (Archer & Yamashita, 2003; Shildrick & MacDonald, 2007; Kintrea & Houston, 2011). Research has highlighted the ways in which middle-class parents build cultural, social and economic capital to support their children's education (Lareau, 2003; Vincent & Ball, 2007). Children from working-class backgrounds experience particular kinds of structural obstacles in navigating their educational pathways (Archer & Yamashita, 2003; Reay, 2001), which may then impact on their aspirations for the future (Archer *et al.*, 2010). Holland *et al.* (2007) refer to a "situated balance between individual and wider resources, and access to support and social capital... for young people from economically deprived backgrounds, individual resources of ability and ambition do not necessarily translate into educational and occupational success" (p108-9). In addition, research shows that children from working class background in the UK are far less likely to apply for and attend an elite university (Reay *et al.*, 2005). The intersection between class, gender and ethnicity is particularly complex and dynamic and has been the subject of numerous research studies (Archer, 2010; Vincent *et al.*, 2012).

At the same time, however, class is particularly hard to measure in a reliable way through statistical instruments. In the RESL.eu survey, parental occupational status was included in the questionnaire, as a proxy indicator of socio-economic status (SES). This was coded according to the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-08), on the basis of students' responses to the questions: 'What is your father's main job?' and: 'What is your mother's main job?' The higher status occupation between respondents' father and mother was used as parental occupational status, which was then aggregated into a three-group classification (see Dumont, 2008; Keeley, 2009). Responses to these questions relied on students' ability accurately to recall and sufficiently describe their parents' jobs; therefore this variable has a low reliability and was subject to high levels of missing data (21.8% in the 1st wave; 16.0% of respondents to the 2nd wave). Furthermore, when used in the preliminary stages of statistical data analysis, this variable appeared to have an extremely weak explanatory power and was in most cases not statistically significant. It is for these practical and methodological reasons that socio-economic status does not appear in the regression models presented in the next sections – although the important role played by class must be taken into consideration when interpreting these.

Other proxy variables for SES and family background included in the RESL.eu dataset included parents' level of education, parental involvement at school and available space and facilities at home (for example the presence of "a quite space" at home to study). Like with all other Independent Variables, these are presented in the statistical models only when they appeared to play a significant role in the variation of the Dependent Variables under investigation.

Migration background and ethnicity

The existing literature supports the idea that, overall, minority/migrant children are more likely to experience educational inequalities as they attempt to navigate a process of acculturalization in the host country (Gibson 1998; Carrasco, *et al.* 2011; Clycq *et al.*, 2013). On the other hand, in more recent years there has been an increasing amount of research demonstrating a greater level of emotional school engagement (Elffers *et al.*, 2012; Wang and Eccles, 2012) or higher aspirations (Behtoui and Neergaard, 2015) amongst young people with a migrant background. It is well documented that in the UK, for example, native White British children, especially boys from a working class background, are one of the lowest achieving groups in education (Evans 2006; House of Commons 2014; Reay 2009; Stahl 2015; Strand 2014). Recent studies (Stoer & Araújo 2000; Macedo & Araújo 2014a; Macedo & Araújo 2014b) have also shown that lower levels of school engagement amongst native-born students relative to their non-native classmates may be the result of a 'disillusionment' amongst young native adults in the capacity of education to promote social mobility.

It is also important to highlight that migrant background intersects with class in complex ways. The ground breaking work of Alejandro Portes in the USA in the 1990s tested the school attainment of children from a range of diverse migrant and socio-economic backgrounds including Vietnamese and Mexicans. The study found that parents' socio-economic background and length of time in the USA all impacted on students' academic attainment. In addition, the type of school the children attended also impacted on their educational performance. Attending a more affluent school increased both average performance and the positive effects of parents' SES (Portes & MacLeod 1996).

Similarly in the UK, David Gillborn found a strong association between class and educational attainment regardless of students' ethnic or migrant background (Gillborn 1997). Paul Connolly conducted a secondary analysis of three successive cohorts of the Youth Cohort Study of England and Wales and examined the effects of social class and ethnicity on gender differences in GCSE results. He found that both social class and ethnicity exert a far greater influence on the GCSE performance of boys and girls than gender. Simply in terms of the effects of social class, ethnicity and gender on educational attainment, therefore, it is argued that these can actually be understood in terms of a simple 'additive model' (Connolly 2006). However, more recent research challenges the additive view to suggest more complex interactions between class, ethnicity and gender. Based on the analyses of educational achievement at age 11, 14 and 16 of over 15,000 students from the nationally representative longitudinal study of young people in England, Strand (2014) found that at age 16, the achievement gap associated with social class was twice as large as the biggest ethnic gap and six times as large as the gender gap. Among low SES students, all ethnic minority groups achieve significantly better than White British students (except Black Caribbean boys who do not differ from White British boys), but at high SES only Indian students outperform White British students. Strand argues that: 'Parents' educational aspirations for their child and students' own educational aspirations, academic self-concept, frequency of completing homework, truancy and exclusion could account for the minority ethnic advantage at low SES, but conditioning on such factors simultaneously indicates substantial ethnic underachievement at average and high SES' (2014: p131). Reay (2004) also highlighted that the social class position of ethnic minority families in the UK do not necessarily match the parents' educational background and subsequent aspirations. While these families' economic capital might be very low and they might live in impoverished neighbourhoods, with low parental employment status; their cultural capital can be significantly higher, which will be reflected in the children's educational outcomes. Strand concludes that explanations of educational achievement framed exclusively in terms of social class, ethnicity or gender are insufficient (Strand 2014).

Institutional context and school setting

As with other contextual factors, the role of the school setting in which young people undertake their studies is also a hugely influential one. This interaction between adolescents and their institutional environment has formed the basis of several theories of youth development. Most ecological theories of development emphasise the key nature of institutional effects on students' engagement at school (Fredricks *et al.*, 2004; Wang & Eccles, 2014). Stage-environment fit theory (Eccles & Midgley, 1989), for example, highlights the need for adolescents' social context – most importantly, the school context – to adapt to changing developmental needs, whilst self-system theory (Connell, 1990) also frames young people's interactions within a particular school context in terms of the fulfilment (or not) or their psychological 'needs'.

The importance of context in the study of academic achievement is evident and cross-national research highlights the high degree of variation seen between education systems and broader cultural and socioeconomic contexts (Eisenmon, 1997; Breen & Jonsson, 2005). For example, there are differences between countries according to types of academic tracking, existence of grade retention, timing of educational transitions, pedagogical norms and classroom practices. Furthermore, there may be school-level and classroom-level effects on individuals' levels of engagement that cannot easily be accounted for and which may vary significantly within a single school or jurisdiction.

Social capital acquired through school has been found to have an important impact on academic achievement and ESL. For example, Oseguera *et al.* (2011) found that in the USA, access to school related social capital – relationships with teachers, other school staff and peers, and potential for their realisation in secondary education – differs among four ethnic groups (Southeast Asian, Black, Mexican and White), and this played an important role in explaining different educational achievement among these groups. In addition, teacher-based forms of social capital have been found to halve the likelihood of young people dropping out of education (Croninger & Lee, 2001).

5 Findings of the Survey

5.1 ESL and other outcome variables

Table 5, below, provides an overview in terms of young people's outcomes at the time of the follow-up survey. Whilst it is to be expected that early school leavers would be amongst the most reluctant to participate in the follow-up survey, around 1.7% of the sample could be classified as ESL (having achieved no higher than lower secondary level education and not currently in any kind of education or training). The proportion of ESL is evenly distributed across the two cohorts. However, it is clear that the numbers of early school leavers are not evenly distributed across the seven countries in which the research took place (Table 6). In fact, whilst almost 5% of the Dutch sample were early school leavers, for the Polish, Swedish and UK samples the figure is below 1%.

In terms of young people's activity status at the time of the follow-up survey, the vast majority of respondents (88.4%) were in education or training, and amongst the younger cohort, the proportion is even higher (96.2%). Overall just over 3% of the young people surveyed are currently not in education, employment or training (NEET); most of these 'NEETs' were amongst the older cohort.

	Survey A2 respondents		Cohort 1		Cohort 2	
	Ν	%	N	%	Ν	%
Early School Leaving						
ESL	113	1.6	66	1.6	47	1.6
non-ESL	6,811	98.4	3,948	98.4	2,863	98.4
Current Activity						
In education or training	6,203	88.4	3,916	96.2	2,287	77.7
In paid employment	584	8.3	89	2.2	495	16.8
NEET	230	3.3	67	1.6	163	5.5

Table 5: Outcomes of Follow-up Survey respondents:

Table 6: Early school leavers by country of survey:

	Early S Lea	School vers
	N	%
Belgium	32	2.5
Netherlands	38	4.9
Poland	6	0.4
Portugal	16	1.6
Spain	14	1.3
Sweden	3	0.7
UK	4	0.5
All countries	113	1.6

Despite the small absolute numbers of early school leavers captured by the survey, significant differences can be seen in relations to their mean scores for each of the key outcome variables analysed, which supports the hypothesis that these measures are closely related to on-going processes associated with a greater likelihood of leaving education or training early.

In particular, figure 3 shows that in each of the country samples, early school leavers – as identified in the 2^{nd} wave of the survey – scored lower than non-early school leavers in terms of the educational expectations, as measured during the 1^{st} wave. The largest difference can be seen for the UK data (-4.61), whilst for the Belgian sample the difference was much smaller (-0.73), although still statistically significant. This is consistent with previous research into ESL whereby lower educational expectations have been shown to be a strong predictor of which students decide to leave school early (Poole, 1978; Rumberger & Lim, 2008; Elffers & Oort, 2013).



Figure 3: Educational Expectations (mean score) for early school leavers and non-early school leavers by country of survey

As discussed above, young people's level of school engagement can be used as a means of identifying those students who are more or less likely to continue their educational career. Again, survey respondents identified as early school leavers were more likely to score below their non-ESL peers; this is the case in each of the country datasets. For each of the individual components of school engagement investigated here (behavioural, affective and cognitive), this pattern is repeated (figures 4-7). Overall, mean scores for behavioural engagement were higher than those for affective engagement, whilst scores for cognitive engagement were lower still. However, the difference between ESL and non-ESL young people was most pronounced for cognitive engagement: as shown in Figure 7, scores for early school leavers' cognitive engagement averaged below three out of five for all the country samples, except the Netherlands (where the average for ESL young people was 3.02). The differences are relatively small for all the subscales, although in

most cases they are statistically significant and are, in all but one case⁷, in the direction hypothesised from the project's theoretical framework.

The data presented in this section, however, does not clarify how these different components of overall engagement interrelate. Likewise, the way in which measured levels of engagement interact with other factors, such as levels of social support, perceptions and attitudes towards education, teachers, parents and peers, and individual aspirations, merit a more in-depth analysis. This is addressed in the next sections, which employ multivariate statistical analysis to explore the relationship between several variables identified as important predictors of each of these key measures associated with early school leaving.



Figure 4: School engagement (mean score) for early school leavers and non-early school leavers by country of survey





⁷ For the Swedish sample, the mean affective engagement score for early school leavers was higher than for those young people who were not ESL, which, although somewhat anomalous was nevertheless found to be not statistically significant

Figure 6: Affective engagement (mean score) for early school leavers and non-early school leavers by country of survey



Figure 7: Cognitive engagement (mean score) for early school leavers and non-early school leavers by country of survey



5.2 Predictors of Early School Leaving and related outcome variables

5.2.1 Early School Leaving

Table 7 presents the results of a logistical regression model on the basis of the aggregate international dataset. The model compares the likelihood of being an early school leaver with not being an early school leaver (i.e. either having achieved an upper secondary level qualification or currently still in education or training). Analysis of the survey data indicates that certain factors are significantly associated with an increased risk of becoming ESL. The first part of the table – step 1 – includes only young people's background characteristics, showing that males are more likely than females to become early school leavers; this is also true for those with a migrant background.

In terms of the country in which the data were collected, the effect appears to be small or statistically insignificant except where the number of cases of ESL is extremely small. For example, in the Polish sample (n=6), there appears to be much less chance of participants being classified as an early school leaver in comparison to the reference country sample (Belgium).

Step 2 adds levels of truancy, academic grades and school engagement scores to the model. Whilst all of these measures are self-reported at the time of the first students' survey, they are all significant predictors of ESL, whereby higher levels of truancy, lower grades and lower levels of engagement at school are associated with a greater risk of becoming an early school leaver.

Finally, step 3 brings in measures of young people's educational expectations as well as the perceived level of educational expectation held by their parents. When entered into the model, these factors are found to be significant predictors of ESL, with higher levels of educational expectations and parents' expectations being associated with a lower risk of leaving school early. This final model shows that the most important factors predicting early school leaving are School Engagement, migrant background status and gender. Thus, students who report being less engaged at school, having at least one foreign-born parent and who are male are all at significantly greater risk of becoming ESL (table 8).

The variable effect seen for country of survey, owing to the unequal distribution of cases of early school leaving and the extremely small absolute number of such cases within some of the country samples, means that the final model cannot be run for all countries' datasets. Hence, the analysis of ESL is presented only for the aggregate data and the findings of the model should be interpreted with caution.

Regardless, the findings according to the model built using the aggregate international dataset do appear to support the existing literature on dropout and ESL, which has identified boys (Byrne & Smyth, 2010), migrants (Anisef *et al.*, 2010; Jonsson & Rudolphi, 2011) and school engagement (Fall & Roberts, 2012; Ferguson *et al.*, 2005; Lamb *et al.*, 2011; Elffers *et al.*, 2012;) as key predictive factors. Much has also been written regarding the role of truancy (De Witte & Csillag, 2014), prior academic attainment (Bradley & Taylor, 2004; Rumberger, 1995), and aspirations (Marks *et al.*, 2000; Homel & Ryan, 2014) in foreshadowing potential early school leaving.

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Constant	-24.823**	-19.853	-18.934
Gender (<i>Ref: Female</i>)	.925**	.729 ^{**}	.680**
Migrant background (Ref: Native)	.602*	.738 ^{**}	.781**
Country of survey (Ref: Belgium)			
Netherlands	811***	711 [*]	245
Poland	1.531**	1.777***	1.850**
Portugal	.291	.130	.078
Spain	.688 [°]	.570	.558
UK	17.315	16.920	17.055
Sweden	1.259 [°]	1.558 [*]	1.588 [*]
Truancy		.196 [*]	.172 [°]
Academic grades		336**	256 [*]
School Engagement		-1.111**	898**
Educational expectations			196**
Parents' educational expectations			247 [*]
Model pseudo R ²	.123	.180	.211

Table 7: Logistic regression model predicting Early School Leaving for aggregate dataset

p<.01 p<.05 p<.10

Table 8: Variables in the final model and interpretation in relation to probability of being ESL

	Being ESL predicted by:	
Gender	Being male	
Migrant background	Having a migrant background	
Country of survey	Country effect is not significant except where there are very few cases of ESL, e.g. PL & SE	
Truancy	Higher levels of truancy	
Academic grades	Lower academic grades	
School Engagement	Lower levels of school engagement	
Educational expectations	Lower educational expectations	
Parents' educational expectations	Lower perceived levels of educational aspiration by one's parents	

5.2.2 Educational Expectations

As mentioned in section 4.2, the RESL.eu survey measured educational expectations through responses to two questions:

- What is the highest level of qualification you are aiming to achieve before leaving full-time education?;
- How likely do you think it is that you will achieve your desired level of education?

Overall, as reported in table 9, educational expectations are predicted by a range of interrelated concepts, including individuals' school experiences, their self-perceptions as students and their future aspirations, and the perceived levels of expectations of young people's teacher, parents and peers. The way in which these factors interconnect is complex, but according to our analysis, the most important predictors of educational expectation are:

- **Parents' educational expectations;** i.e. students who believe that their parents educational expectations for them are higher are also more likely to report higher levels of educational expectations themselves;
- **Teachers' educational expectations;** similarly, those young people who think their teachers expect them to achieve higher levels of educational attainment also report higher educational expectations.

Teachers' expectations are a significant predictor of educational expectations for each of the country samples as well as for the aggregate data set, whilst parents' expectations are significant in all samples except for the Portuguese data (see table 10). Other variables that are significant predictors across all or most of the country samples include:

- **Cohort;** i.e. being in the older cohort is a significant predictor of higher educational expectations for all the country samples, expect for the Portuguese data
- **Academic grades**, with higher self-reported academic grades being correlated with higher levels of educational expectations
- **Vocational track;** in education systems where it is applicable, being in the vocational track (as opposed to the academic or general educational track) was associated with lower levels of educational expectations amongst students
- **Importance of education;** i.e. the extent to which a young person sees education as an important endeavour towards their future success, is positively correlated with their level of educational expectations. This scale is measured by calculating the mean scores for 3 items on the RESL.eu survey relating to the extent to which they perceive working hard at school will help them to achieve positive outcomes in life.
- **Academic self-concept;** i.e. an individual's self-perceived ability to succeed within the context of their academic career (Shavelson *et al.*, 1976; Bong & Skaalvik, 2003). In the RESL.eu survey, aca-

demic self-concept was measured by calculating mean scores for 6 items ranked on a 1 to 5 scale (reliability coefficient = .73). Analysis of the aggregate data indicate that young people with a more positive academic self-concept are more likely to be exhibit higher levels of educational expectations.

 Occupational aspirations; as coded according to the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO-08), was positively correlated with higher levels of educational expectations, whereby young people expecting to achieve higher levels of educational attainment were also more likely to aspire towards a higher-status occupation in the future

In addition, some variables included in the final statistical model are significant predictors of educational expectations for some countries' sample, whilst for others these variables are not significant. For example:

- **Gender;** for the aggregate dataset, being female was a significant predictor of higher educational expectations, although gender was not included as a significant variable in the final model for any of the individual country samples;
- *Migrant background;* whilst having a migrant background predicted higher educational expectations in the model built using data from the Netherlands, the relationship was the inverse for the Belgian sample, where young people without a migrant background were more likely to report higher levels of educational expectations. This variable was not significant for any of the other country-level datasets;
- Peer aspirations; i.e. higher aspirations amongst students' friendship group measured as the extent to which their peers feel it is important to attend class, study hard, get good grades and continue education beyond upper secondary level is also a predictor of higher educational expectations for two of the country samples (Poland and Portugal)

Overall, the statistical model built using the aggregate international dataset is robust and moderately strong, able to explain around 30% of the total variation in the young people's level of educational expectations ($R^2 = 0.3$). The same model also shows predictive power across all the country samples (R^2 between 0.2 and 0.5), though with relevant differences in how individual variables interact. It appears to be particularly robust for the Polish data, where the model accounts for more than half of the overall variation in respondents' level of educational expectations.

	Belgium	Netherlands	Poland	Portugal	Spain	υк	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender							\checkmark
Cohort	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Migrant background	\checkmark	\checkmark					\checkmark
Academic grades			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Vocational track	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$	\checkmark		\checkmark
Importance of education	\checkmark	~	\checkmark			\checkmark	√
Academic self-concept		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Occupational aspirations [°]	\checkmark	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Peer aspirations			\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark
Parents' educational expectations	$\checkmark\checkmark$	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$		$\checkmark\checkmark$	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$
Teachers' educational expectations	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Model adj. R ²	.326	.201	.518	.216	.236	.277	.299

Table 9: Final regression models (DV= Educational Expectations) for 6 countries and aggregate dataset

°variable reverse-scored

significant coefficients indicated by \checkmark - coefficients greater than .200 indicated by \checkmark

Table 10: Variables in the final model and interpretation in relation to levels of Educational Expectations

	No of countries in which significant predictor in the model	Greater Educational Expectations predicted by:
Gender	0	Being female (Agg. only)
Cohort	5	Being in the older cohort (not PT)
Migrant background	2	Having a migrant background (NL) Not having a migrant background (BE)
Academic grades	3	Achieving higher academic grades (ES, UK) Achieving poorer academic grades (PT)
Vocational track	5	Not studying within a vocational track (not UK)
Importance of education	4	Placing a higher value on education (not ES, PT)
Academic self-concept	4	Having a more positive academic self-concept (not BE, ES)
Occupational aspirations	5	Having higher occupational aspirations (not ES)
Peer aspirations	2	Higher peer aspirations (PL, PT)
Parents' educational expectations	5	Higher educational expectations of one's parents (not PT)
Teachers' educational expectations	6	Higher educational expectations of one's teachers

5.2.3 School Engagement

School Engagement – as measured by the RESL.eu scale – is connected to a range of factors relating to young people's socio-demographic characteristics, their self-perceptions and their perceived level of support from teachers and parents. The way in which all these interact with each other is extremely complex; however, when all these variables are pulled together into an overall statistical model (see table 11) it appears that the strongest predictors of school engagement are:

- Academic self-concept; i.e. an individual's self-perceived ability to succeed within the context of their academic career (Shavelson *et al.*, 1976; Bong & Skaalvik, 2003). In the RESL.eu survey, academic self-concept was measured by calculating mean scores for 6 items ranked on a 1 to 5 scale (reliability coefficient = .73). Analysis of the aggregate data indicate that young people with a more positive academic self-concept are more likely to exhibit higher levels of engagement at school.
- Perceived teacher support; i.e. the level of positive support that students feel they receive overall from their teachers. Students' scores for perceived teacher support were calculated as the mean of 8 items on the RESL.eu survey, each measured on a five-point Likert scale (reliability coefficient = .89). Based on these measurements, it appears that the higher the level of perceived teacher support, the more likely a student is to report high levels of school engagement.

In terms of academic self-concept, the notion of engagement as the "central component of [a wider selfsystem] that not only reflects the manifestation of motivation and self-related beliefs but also affects outcomes" (Green *et al.*, 2012, p.1111) has been posited by Skinner *et al.* (2008, 2009), and examined empirically (Green *et al.*, 2012), whilst Marsh (2007) has also shown the academic self-concept is a key predictor of school performance.

Levels of teacher support and positive student-teacher relationships have also received much theoretical and empirical attention with regards to its impact on school engagement. Indeed Quin's (2017) review identified more than 40 quantitative studies published since 1990 focusing on the issue. The empirical evidence points to the strategic importance of the school context in influencing educational outcomes (Masten & Cicchetti, 2010; Oseguera *et al.*, 2011; Pianta *et al.*, 2012) and, within this, the positive role that supportive teacher relationships can play to promote engagement at school (Brewster & Bowen, 2004; Croninger & Lee, 2001; Wang & Eccles, 2012). The analysis based on the RESL.eu data appears to support both the prominence of students' individual self-perceptions and the significance of positive teacher-student interactions as key predictors of school engagement.

These two variables are significant predictors of school engagement for each of the country samples as well as for the aggregate data set. Other variables that are significant predictors across all or most of the country samples include certain socio-demographic characteristics:

- Gender; i.e. being female increases the likelihood of being more engaged at school;
- *Migrant background;* i.e. those young people who have a migrant background (at least one parent born outside of the country of survey) are also more likely to report higher levels of school engagement;

Additionally, certain individual behaviours and aspirations at school:

- **Truancy**, with higher rates of truancy predicting lower levels of school engagement;
- **Educational expectations;** i.e. young people with higher educational expectations are more likely to be more engaged at school;

and certain factors relating to young people's interaction with their family, friends and neighbourhood environment:

- **Parental control;** i.e. the extent to which students' parents are concerned to know where and what their children are doing. Higher levels of parental control indicate a greater likelihood to be more engaged at school;
- Parental involvement at school, where students' whose parents are more involved in their children's school, e.g. through attending school events and activities, also display higher levels of school engagement themselves;
- Peer aspirations; higher aspirations amongst students' friendship group measured as the extent to which their peers feel it is important to attend class, study hard, get good grades and continue education beyond upper secondary level – is also a predictor a high school engagement in the majority of the country samples.

However, with regard to the other variables included in our final statistical model, there appears to be substantial differences in whether and how they work as predictors of school engagement across the different country samples. For example:

- *Cohort;* being in the younger or older cohort makes a significant difference in 5 of the country samples, but in the Netherlands, Spain and Sweden high school engagement is associated with being in the older cohort, whereas in Poland and Portugal it is associated with being in the younger cohort. Differences between the country samples could arise due to systemic differences: i.e. the extent to which a year-group cohort is made up of students who may have experienced grade retention in previous years or those who may have left and re-entered education.
- Academic grades; whilst students' self-reported academic grades was a significant predictor of school engagement overall (higher grades, as reported by the students, predicting higher levels of engagement), this was only the case in the country samples for the Netherlands, Portugal and Spain, whilst for the other samples this was not significant and therefore not included in the final model for these countries' data
- Educational expectations of teachers; i.e. the educational level that students believed their teachers expected of them, was included in the final model for only three of the country samples (Poland, Portugal and Spain), with students who thought their teachers had higher expectations for their education also more likely to have higher levels of overall school engagement
- Perceived parental support; i.e. the extent to which students' perceived positive support from their parents, was also a significant predictor in the final model for the aggregate dataset, although at the level of individual country samples this variable was only significant for the Belgian, Spanish and UK data

- Neighbourhood environment; a more positive neighbourhood environment measured as the mean score of 4 items on the survey relating to students' feelings of belonging, community cohesion and friendliness of their neighbourhood – was also a predictor of higher student engagement at school. However, this variable was only significant for the overall model and in the final model for four of the country samples (Netherlands, Poland, Portugal and Spain)
- Neighbourhood safety measured as the mean score of 4 survey items relating to the extent of graffiti, public drunkenness, perceived levels of harassment and first-hand experience of harassment in students' local area was included in the final model at aggregate level and also for three of the country samples. Where it was included as a significant predictor, greater perceptions of neighbourhood safety were associated with students reporting higher levels of school engagement

Overall, the statistical model built on the basis of our international dataset is robust and relatively strong, able to explain over half of the total variation in the young people's level of school engagement ($R^2 = 0.6$). The same model also shows predictive power across all the country samples (R^2 between 0.5 and 0.6), though with relevant differences in how individual variables interact.

However, almost half of the variation cannot be accounted for by the model. The survey did not measure several aspects which undoubtedly contribute to a young person's level of school engagement. On the basis of our theoretical model (see Section 4.1 above) these are likely to include school organisational practices as well as systemic differences, e.g. regarding countries' overall education systems.

	BE	NL	PL	РТ	ES	SE	υк	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓
Cohort		\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
Migrant background	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
Academic grades		\checkmark		~	\checkmark			✓
Level of truancy	\checkmark	<i>√√</i>	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
Educational expectations	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark
Academic self-concept	\checkmark	\checkmark	11	11	11	11	11	1
Self-esteem	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Educational expectations of teachers			~	~	~			~
Perceived teacher support	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	1
Negative student-teacher inter- actions ^o	~	\checkmark		~	\checkmark		\checkmark	~
Perceived parental support	\checkmark				\checkmark		✓	✓
Parental involvement at school		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Parental control	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Neighbourhood environment		\checkmark	\checkmark	~			✓	✓
Neighbourhood safety			\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark
Peer aspirations	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		✓	✓
Model adj. R ²	.490	.495	.614	.530	.584	.554	.565	.555

Table 11: Final regression models (DV= School Engagement) for 7 countries and aggregate dataset

°variable reverse-scored

significant coefficients indicated by \checkmark - coefficients greater than .200 indicated by \checkmark \checkmark

Table 12: Variables in the final model and interpretation in relation to levels of School Engagement

	No of countries in which signifi- cant predictor in the model	Higher levels of School Engagement predicted by:
Gender	7	Being female
Cohort	5	Being in the older cohort (NL, ES, SE, Agg.) Being in the younger cohort (PL, PT)
Migrant background	4	Having a migrant background (not in PL, PT or UK)
Academic grades	3	Achieving higher academic grades (NL, PT, ES)
Level of truancy	7	Lower levels of truancy
Educational expectations	7	Higher educational expectations
Academic self-concept	7	Having a more positive academic self-concept
Self-esteem	7	Higher levels of self-esteem
Educational expectations of teachers	3	Higher teacher educational expectations (PL, PT, ES)
Perceived teacher support	7	Higher levels of perceived teacher support
Negative student-teacher interactions ^o	5	Lower levels of negative student- teacher interactions (not PL, SE)
Perceived parental support	3	Higher levels perceived parental support (BE, ES, UK)
Parental involvement at school	4	Greater parental involvement at school (not BE, PT, SE)
Parental control	6	Higher levels of parental control (not NL)
Neighbourhood environment	4	Living in a more positive neighbourhood environment (not BE, ES, SE)
Neighbourhood safety	2	Living in a safer neighbourhood (PL, SE)
Peer aspirations	6	Higher peer aspirations (not SE)

5.2.4 Behavioural engagement (compliance behaviour at school)

Behavioural engagement, described as encompassing "students' effort, persistence, participation, and compliance with school structures" (Davis *et al.*, 2012, p23), has been studied as predictive of positive educational outcomes (Skinner & Belmont, 1993; Finn *et al.*, 1995; Fredricks *et al.*, 2004). As shown in table 13, behavioural engagement – as measured by the RESL.eu compliance behaviour at school scale – is connected to a range of factors relating to young people's socio-demographic characteristics, individual-level attitudes, behavioural and self-perception, and their perceived level of support from their teachers, and interactions/composition of their peers.

These variables interrelate in a highly complex way, which is also highly individualised; however, when all these variables are pulled together into an overall statistical model it appears that the strongest predictors of behavioural engagement are:

- **Gender;** i.e. based on the RESL.eu international dataset, female students are more likely than their male peers to display higher levels of behavioural engagement at school;
- Victimization at school; measured as the mean score on a 4-item scale, each rated on a five-point Likert scale. The items relate to the frequency that students have been upset, bullied, threatened or physically assaulted by other students at school. Based on the analysis of the aggregate data, experiencing lower levels of victimization at school has been found to be a strong predictor of higher levels of behavioural engagement.

These findings are not surprising, in that male students have been identified as exhibiting lower levels of engagement at school (Jacobs *et al.*, 2002), especially with regards to behavioural discipline within the school context (Lloyd Smith & Davies, 1995; Lam *et al.*, 2012).

Victimization at school, measured in terms of being the victim of threatened or realised bullying or violence, is clearly a concept related to one's level of compliance behaviour at school. As noted by Craig & Harel (2004), being involved in fighting or bullying, either as victim or perpetrator, has negative consequences for adolescents' development. The prevalence and interrelation between these concepts has been shown to relate to an increased likelihood of developing emotional, physical, psychological and academic problems (Boulton & Underwood, 1992; Harel, 1999; Laufer & Harel, 2003). Bullying behaviour and peer victimization have both been found to be related to lower levels of engagement and compliance behaviour at school. Indeed, Totura *et al.* (2009) note that victims of bullying "report more behavioural misconduct, aggression, delinquency, and substance use, and acceptance of misconduct than students uninvolved in bullying, although not to the same degree as bullies" (p195).

These two variables are significant predictors of school engagement for each of the country samples as well as for the aggregate data set. Other variables that are significant predictors across all or most of the country samples include:

- **Neighbourhood environment;** whereby a more positive neighbourhood environment can be identified as a predictor of higher behavioural engagement at school.;
- **Academic self-regulation;** i.e. students reporting greater academic self-regulation are also more likely to exhibit greater behavioural engagement;
- **Attentiveness at school;** similarly, greater attentiveness is also correlated with students reporting higher levels of compliant behaviour at school;
- **Teachers' educational expectations;** with students' perceptions of their teachers expected level of educational attainment being positively correlated with their behavioural engagement;
- Proportion of friends who left education without ISCED 3; i.e. students who have fewer friends who left education without achieving upper secondary education (ISCED level 3) are more likely to report higher levels of behavioural engagement at school.

Conversely, with regard to the other variables included in our final statistical model, there are considerable differences as to whether and how they work as predictors of behavioural engagement across the different country samples. For example:

- Cohort; whilst being in the older cohort was a significant predictor in the overall model, it was also found to be significant for four of the country samples (Belgium, the Netherlands, Spain and the UK);
- *Migrant background;* not having a migrant background, was also a significant predictor in the model, indicating that native students were more likely to exhibit higher levels of behavioural engagement, although this factor was not significant for three of the country teams (Netherlands, Poland and Portugal);
- **Negative student-teacher interactions** and **Perceived level of discrimination by teachers**, whereby students who experience fewer negative interactions with their teachers (in Belgium, the Netherlands and the UK, as well as overall) and those who perceive lower levels of discrimination by any of their teachers (for all of the country samples) are more likely to report greater behavioural engagement;
- **Proportion of friends left education and have a job;** students with fewer friends having left education and who are currently employed was a significant predictor of higher behavioural engagement in three of the country samples (Belgium, Portugal and the UK), as well as for the aggregate dataset overall;
- **Proportion of friends left education and unemployed** was included in the final model as a significant predictor of behavioural engagement, although at the level of the country datasets it was only found to be significant for the Spanish sample.

Differences across countries could relate to the differences in educational systems, such as, in relation to 'cohort', the extent to which the older cohort is made up of students who have left and re-entered education or who have experienced grade retention in previous years.

Overall, however, with regards to behavioural engagement, the statistical model built on the basis of our international dataset is robust and moderately-sized, able to explain 31% of the total variation in the young people's level of school engagement ($R^2 = 0.31$). The same model also shows predictive power across all the country samples (R^2 between 0.19 and 0.43), although there are some clear differences as which variables

are significant predictors across the countries' sample and how the individual variables remaining in the model interact.

	BE	NL	PL	РТ	ES	SE	υк	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender	√ √	\checkmark	\checkmark	11	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	✓
Cohort	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Migrant background	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Neighbourhood environment	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		~	✓
Educational expectations	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark
Academic self-regulation	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Attentiveness at school		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Victimization at school	11	\checkmark	11	11	\checkmark	11	~~	11
Teachers' educational expectations			~		~	~	~	~
Perceived level of discrimination by teachers [°]	~	~	~	~	~	~	\checkmark	\checkmark
Negative student-teacher inter- actions [°]	\checkmark	\checkmark					~	\checkmark
Proportion of friends left education without ISCED 3	\checkmark	\checkmark	~		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Proportion of friends left					\checkmark			~
Proportion of friends left education and have a job	~			~			~	~
Model adj. R ²	.298	.239	.430	.287	.311	.192	.321	.308

Table 13: Final regression models (DV= Behavioural Engagement) for 7 countries and aggregate dataset

°variable reverse-scored

significant coefficients indicated by \checkmark - coefficients greater than .200 indicated by $\checkmark\checkmark$

Table 14: Variables in the final model and interpretation in relation to levels of Behavioural Engagement

	No of countries in which significant predictor in the model	Higher levels of Behavioural Engagement predicted by:
Gender	7	Being female
Cohort	4	Being in the older cohort (not PL, PT, SE)
Migrant background	4	Not having a migrant background (BE, ES, SE, UK)
Neighbourhood environment	5	Living in a more positive neighbourhood environment (not PT, SE)
Educational expectations	3	Higher educational expectations (BE, PL, ES)
Academic self-regulation	5	Higher levels of academic self-regulation (not PT, SE)
Attentiveness at school	4	Greater attentiveness at school (not BE, PL, SE)
Victimization at school	7	Experiencing lower levels of victimization at school
Teachers' educational expectations	4	Higher educational expectations of one's teachers (not BE, NL, PT)
Perceived level of discrimination by teachers	7	Experiencing lower levels of perceived discrimination by teachers
Negative student-teacher interactions°	3	Lower levels of negative student-teacher interactions (BE, NL, UK)
Proportion of friends left education without ISCED 3	6	Having fewer friends who left education without achieving ISCED 3 (not PT)
Proportion of friends left education and unemployed	1	Having fewer friends who left education and are now unemployed (ES)
Proportion of friends left education and have a job	3	Having fewer friends who left education and are now in a job (BE, PT, UK)

5.2.5 Affective engagement (school belonging)

Affective engagement, the extent to which students feel a sense of belonging towards their school, has been shown to have a positive effect on young people's educational outcomes (Goodenow, 1993; Fredricks *et al.*, 2011). As shown in table 15, affective engagement – as measured by the RESL.eu school belonging scale – is connected to a range of factors relating to young people's socio-demographic characteristics, their self-perceptions and their perceived level of support from teachers, parents and peers.

How these variables are interrelated is highly complex and individualised; however, when all these variables are pulled together into an overall statistical model it appears that the strongest predictor of school engagement is:

Perceived teacher support; this measure contributes to the final overall model much more strongly than all other variables for the aggregate dataset as well as for the country samples⁸. Students who report higher levels of positive perceived support from their teachers are also much more likely to report greater levels of affective engagement.

This central role that teacher support appears to play in students' levels of affective engagement is consistent with previous studies (Pianta *et al.*, 2012; Sakiz *et al.*, 2012; Amir *et al.*, 2014). Osterman (2000) points out that "teachers play a major role in determining whether students feel they are cared for and that they are a welcome part of the school community" (p351). Students' sense of belonging, therefore, is inherently connected to their experiences of teacher-student interactions, which in turn mediate their perceived levels of affective engagement.

In addition to perceived teacher support, other significant variables that are predictors across the majority of the country samples include certain individual-level factors:

- **Cohort;** students in the younger cohort are more likely to have higher levels of affective engagement with school;
- Importance of education; i.e. the extent to which a young person sees education as an important endeavour towards their future success, is positively correlated with their level of affective engagement. This scale is measured by calculating the mean scores for 3 items on the RESL.eu survey relating to how they perceive working hard at school will help them to achieve positive outcomes in life.

Moreover, indicative of the importance of school environment in predicting levels of belonging and affective engagement with one's school, the following variables relating to teacher-student relations were also significant in the model for almost all of the country samples:

 Negative student-teacher interactions, and Perceived level of discrimination by teachers; whereby students who experience fewer negative interactions with their teachers and those who perceive lower levels of discrimination by any of their teachers are more likely to report greater affective engagement.

⁸ See Appendix for standardized regression coefficients

Other significant variables in the model for most of the countries' samples were:

- Parental involvement at school, where students' whose parents are more involved in their child's school also exhibit higher levels of affective engagement (consistent with other studies, e.g. Fan & Williams, 2010)
- Perceived peer-group support; i.e. those young people who report greater levels of perceived support from their friends are more likely to have higher levels of affective engagement (see also Shin et al., 2007; Wang & Eccles, 2012)

Conversely, certain variables included in our final model proved not to be significant for any or all of the country samples when the same model was applied to the datasets at this level. In particular, whilst **being male** was a significant predictor of reporting higher levels of affective engagement for the aggregate sample – and for the Polish, Spanish and UK country samples – gender was not significant in the model for the other country samples. Similarly, having a higher level of **academic self-regulation** was associated with higher affective engagement in three of the country samples (Portugal, Spain and the UK), yet was not significant for the other countries' datasets.

Overall, with regards to affective engagement, the statistical model built on the basis of our international dataset is robust and moderately-sized, able to explain 35% of the total variation in the young people's level of school engagement ($R^2 = 0.35$). The same model also shows predictive power across all the country samples (R^2 between 0.24 and 0.40), though with some distinctions as to how individual variables interact.

	BE	NL	PL	РТ	ES	SE	υк	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender			~		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Cohort			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	√√		\checkmark
Academic self-regulation				\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Importance of education		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Positive perceived teacher support	√ √	11	√ √	11				
Negative student-teacher interactions°	\checkmark		~		~	~	~	~
Perceived level of discrimination by teachers°	\checkmark	~	~	~	~		\checkmark	\checkmark
Parental involvement at school	~	~	~		~	~	~	~
Perceived peer-group support	~		~	~		\checkmark		~
Model adj. R ²	.236	.334	.398	.278	.327	.345	.394	.346

Table 15: Final regression models (DV= Affective Engagement) for 7 countries and aggregate dataset

° variable reverse-scored

significant coefficients indicated by \checkmark - coefficients greater than .200 indicated by $\checkmark \checkmark$

Table 16: Variables in the final model and interpretation in relation to levels of Affective Engagement

	No of countries in which significant predictor in the model	Higher levels of Affective Engagement predicted by:
Gender	3	Being male (PL, ES, UK)
Cohort	4	Being in the younger cohort (not BE, NL, UK)
Positive perceived teacher support	7	Greater perceived teacher support
Negative student-teacher interactions°	5	Lower levels of negative student- teacher interactions (not NL, PT)
Perceived level of discrimination by teachers°	6	Lower levels of perceived discrimination by one's teachers (not SE)
Academic self-regulation	3	Higher levels of academic self-regulation (PT, ES, UK)
Importance of education	5	Placing a higher value on education (not NE, SE)
Parental involvement at school	6	Greater parental involvement at school (not PT)
Perceived peer-group support	5	Greater perceived peer-group support (not NL, ES, UK)

5.2.6 Cognitive engagement (academic self-regulation)

Cognitive engagement – measured in the RESL.eu survey by the academic self-regulation scale – concerns the level of engagement students have in completing their schoolwork. Beyond levels of effort in doing their work, cognitive engagement implies a degree of self-regulated learning towards increasing their understanding and competencies (Greene *et al.*, 2004; Fredricks *et al.*, 2004). The academic self-regulation scale relates to the cognitive dimension of school engagement as it seeks to measure the "active, constructive process whereby learners set goals for their learning and then attempt to monitor, regulate, and control their cognition" (Pintrich & Zusho, 2002, p250).

The table below shows that students' cognitive engagement is connected to a range of factors relating to young people's socio-demographic characteristics, their self-perceptions and behaviours, and their perceived level of support from parents and teachers.

As with the other dimensions of engagement, how these variables interact is highly complex and individualised; however, when all these variables are pulled together into an overall statistical model it appears that the strongest predictors of cognitive engagement are:

- **Truancy;** i.e. students with greater levels of truancy are more likely to report lower levels of cognitive engagement
- **Importance of education;** as well as being positively correlated with affective engagement (see above), is also a strong predictor of students' levels of cognitive engagement

These two variables are significant predictors of school engagement for each of the country samples, as well as for the aggregate dataset. This corroborates previous evidence, which has highlighted truancy as a key risk factor for disengagement (Henry *et al.*, 2012), whilst students' attitudes towards education has also received academic attention, with regards to the literature of student motivations (Eccles *et al.*, 1983; Brophy, 1987; Ryan & Deci, 2009).

Other variables that are significant predictors across all or most of the country samples include:

- *Gender;* being female is associated with higher levels of cognitive engagement overall and in each of the country samples
- **Cohort;** young people in the older cohort are more likely to exhibit higher levels of cognitive engagement in the majority of the country samples
- **Academic grades;** higher self-reported academic grades is correlated with also reporting high cognitive engagement
- **Academic self-concept;** young people with a more positive academic self-concept are more likely to be exhibit higher levels of cognitive engagement.
- **Attentiveness at school** is measured by calculating mean scores on a 2-item scale. Both items ('I often have trouble paying attention to the teacher in class' and 'I often find it hard to keep my mind on my work at school') are measured on a five-point scale and reverse-coded to obtain a score for attentiveness at school. Young people with high attentiveness scores are also more likely to report higher levels of cognitive engagement at school.

- **Parental control;** higher levels of parental control indicating a greater likelihood to report greater cognitive engagement at school
- **Parental involvement at school;** students' whose parents are more involved an their school also display higher levels of affective engagement
- **Perceived teacher support,** with higher levels of perceived teacher support being correlated with higher levels of cognitive engagement.

Conversely, certain variables included in our final model proved not to be significant for any or all of the country samples when the same model was applied to the datasets at this level. In particular, whilst *having a migrant background* was a significant predictor of higher levels of cognitive engagement for the Belgian, Spanish and Swedish samples, this was not significant when the model was run for the other country samples. Similarly, having higher levels of *perceived parental support* was associated with higher cognitive engagement in three of the country samples (Netherlands, Portugal and Spain), yet was not significant for the other countries' datasets.

Overall, with regards to cognitive engagement, the statistical model built on the basis of our international dataset is robust and moderately-sized, able to explain 33% of the total variation in the young people's level of school engagement ($R^2 = 0.33$). The same model also shows predictive power across all the country samples (R^2 between 0.27 and 0.37), though with some distinctions as to how individual variables interact.

	BE	NL	PL	РТ	ES	SE	UK	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender	✓	✓	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Cohort		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Migrant background	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
Academic grades	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark
Level of truancy behaviour	\checkmark	11	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Importance of education	\checkmark	\checkmark	VV	~	~	~	~	~
Attentiveness at school	11	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	$\checkmark\checkmark$	\checkmark
Academic self-concept			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Parental control	✓		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
Parental involvement at school	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Perceived parental support		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark
Positive perceived teacher support	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
Model adj. R ²	.318	.265	.359	.300	.359	.368	.337	.328

Table 17: Final regression models (DV= Cognitive Engagement) for 7 countries and aggregate dataset

° variable reverse-scored

significant coefficients indicated by \checkmark - coefficients greater than .200 indicated by $\checkmark\checkmark$

Table 18: Variables in the final model and interpretation in relation to levels of Cognitive Engagement

	No of countries in which significant predictor in the model	Higher levels of Cognitive Engagement predicted by:				
Gender	7	Being female				
Cohort	4	Being in the older cohort (not BE, PT, SE)				
Migrant background	3	Having a migrant background (BE, ES, UK)				
Academic grades	5	Achieving higher academic grades (not SE, UK)				
Level of truancy behaviour	7	Lower levels of truancy				
Importance of education	7	Placing a higher value on education				
Attentiveness at school	6	Greater attentiveness at school (not PL)				
Academic self-concept	5	Higher levels of academic self-regulation (not BE, NL)				
Parental control	5	Higher levels of parental control (not NL, UK)				
Parental involvement at school	6	Greater parental involvement at school (not ES)				
Perceived parental support	3	Higher levels of perceived parental support (NL, PT, ES)				
Positive perceived teacher support	7	Higher levels of perceived teacher support				

6 Insights from the Survey: challenges and contributions

The analysis of the RESL.eu survey data presented in this publication confirms that the processes leading to Early School Leaving (ESL) and, more generally, poor educational achievements are extremely complex. Even when looking just at the individual and institutional levels, ESL appears to be dependent on the interaction of personal characteristics, family background, self-perceptions and attitudes, and relationships with teachers and peers, in a way where no individual variable is, on its own, enough of a risk or protective factor, but all contribute to determine the overall likelihood of an individual young person leaving secondary education without an upper secondary gualification. There are, obviously, major variations across countries, partly related to distinct differences in national educational systems and socio-economic contexts. Also, as discussed above, there are several important dimensions and characteristics (social class among those identified in the literature as most significant) that are not captured by the RESL.eu statistical model. Nevertheless, it is possible to identify some dimensions that appear to play a major role irrespective of any contextual element. In particular, the survey results confirm that reported levels of School Engagement – as well as its individual behavioural, affective and cognitive components - are clearly among those. Additionally, gender, as well as migrant background status (having at least one foreign-born parent), appear to play a significant role in affecting the likelihood of becoming an early school leaver. However, as discussed before, the effect of migration background can be very different - appearing to be a risk factor in some countries and a protective factor in others; a complexity at least in part due to the intersection with class.

In its turn, school engagement – as measured in this survey – emerges as significantly correlated with one's academic self-concept as well as the reported level of teachers' support. Also with regard to students' educational expectations, the role of teachers is clearly important, with 'teachers' educational expectations' being one of the main predictors alongside 'parents' educational expectations'.

In this respect, some of the findings emerging from this large-scale piece of quantitative research are not surprising and indeed confirm what has emerged from local practice and national academic research undertaken over the years on a smaller scale – which had informed the theoretical framework presented in section 4. Thus, RESL.eu represents an important exercise in evidence-based theory testing, based on an unprecedented amount of empirical data collected on a large scale and using the same methodology across several different countries. The measurements and statistical models produced through the project, however, make it possible to explore the role of individual components in a new and very detailed way.

Furthermore, the data collection tool (questionnaire) used for RESL.eu lends itself to be adopted in further research projects and to inform local practice. One of the next stages of RESL.eu will be the production of a set of toolkits for teachers and national practitioners, which will incorporate a revised version of the questionnaire to be used to identify young people at risk of becoming early school leavers as well as to monitor progress and the impact of specific measures and interventions. The toolkit will be piloted in a number of locations, working in partnership with schools and stakeholders, and will be part of 'knowledge-exchange' initiatives in the participating countries. In the implementation of these 'risk assessment tools', it will be necessary to ensure that these is not done on the basis of a 'deficit model', but as part of a broader approach that takes into consideration the specific profiles of individual students as well as the broad educational and socio-economic context.

In terms of the contribution of the survey results to policy and academic debates, it is important to highlight that the data presented in this publication are only an initial summary of the information and insights which can emerge from further analysis of the RESL.eu dataset. The project consortium and the individual country teams will be working over the coming months and years to explore and interrogate the data to address various specific research questions, discussing both country-comparative and national-specific issues, and triangulating the results of the quantitative element of the project with what has emerged from the qualitative work – comprising hundreds of in-depth interviews with young people, their parents and peers, and with educational practitioners.

Future publications and initiatives related to RESL.eu will be advertised on the project website (www.resleu.org) and by the national research teams.

References

- Alexander, K. L., Entwisle, D. R., & Olson, L. S. (2001). Schools, achievement, and inequality: A seasonal perspective. *Educational evaluation and policy analysis*, 23(2), 171-191.
- Amir, R., Saleha, A., Jelas, Z. M., Ahmad, A. R., & Hutkemri. (2014). Students' engagement by age and gender: a cross-sectional study in Malaysia. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research, 21* (10), 1886-1892.
- Anisef, P., Brown, R. S., Phythian, K., Sweet, R., & Walters, D. (2010). Early school leaving among immigrants in Toronto secondary schools. *Canadian Review of Sociology/Revue canadienne de sociologie, 47*(2), 103-128.
- Appleton, J. J., Christenson, S. L., & Furlong, M. J. (2008). Student engagement with school: Critical conceptual and methodological issues of the construct. *Psychology in the Schools*, *45*(5), 369-386.
- Araújo, H. C., Rocha, C., Macedo, E., Magalhães, A., & Oliveira, C. (2013). Formulation of a common working definition of ESL: International contributions. *Reducing Early School Leaving in Europe, Project Paper 1*
- Archambault, I., Janosz, M., Fallu, J. S., & Pagani, L. S. (2009). Student engagement and its relationship with early high school dropout. *Journal of adolescence*, *32*(3), 651-670.
- Archer, L. (2010). 'We raised it with the Head': the educational practices of minority ethnic, middle-class families. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *31*(4), 449-469.
- Archer, L., & Yamashita, H. (2003). 'Knowing their limits'? Identities, inequalities and inner city school leavers' post-16 aspirations. *Journal of Education Policy*, *18*(1), 53-69.
- Archer, L., Hollingworth, S., & Mendick, H. (2010). Urban Youth and Schooling. Maidenhead: Open University Press
- Berkowitz, R., Moore, H., Astor, R. A., & Benbenishty, R. (2017). A research synthesis of the associations between socioeconomic background, inequality, school climate, and academic achievement. *Review of Educational Research*, *87*(2), 425-469.
- Behtoui, A. (2016). Beyond social ties: The impact of social capital on labour market outcomes for young Swedish people. *Journal of Sociology*, *52*(4), 711-724.
- Bong, M., & Skaalvik, E. M. (2003). Academic self-concept and self-efficacy: How different are they really?. *Educational psychology review*, *15*(1), 1-40.
- Boulton, M. J., & Underwood, K. (1992). Bully/victim problems among middle school children. *British Jour*nal of Educational Psychology, 62(1), 73-87.
- Bradley, S., & Taylor, J. (2004). Ethnicity, educational attainment and the transition from school. *The Manchester School*, *72*(3), 317-346.
- Breen, R., & Jonsson, J. O. (2005). Inequality of opportunity in comparative perspective: Recent research on educational attainment and social mobility. *Annual Review of Sociology, 31*, 223-243.
- Brewster, A. B., & Bowen, G. L. (2004). Teacher support and the school engagement of Latino middle and high school students at risk of school failure. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, *21*(1), 47-67.
- Brookover W., Erickson E., & Joiner L. (1967). Educational aspirations and educational plans in relation to academic achievement and socioeconomic status. *The School Review* 75(4): 392–400.
- Brophy, J. (1987). Synthesis of research on strategies for motivating students to learn. *Educational leader-ship*, 45(2), 40-48.
- Buchmann C. & Dalton B. (2002). Interpersonal influences and educational aspirations in 12 countries: The importance of institutional context. *Sociology of Education 72*(2): 99–122.

- Byrne, D., & Smyth, E. (2010). *No way back? The dynamics of early school leaving*. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute/Liffey Press
- Clycq, N., Nouwen, W., & Timmerman, C. (2014). Theoretical and methodological framework on early school leaving. *Reducing Early School Leaving in Europe, Project Paper 2*
- Connell, J. P. (1990). Context, self, and action: A motivational analysis of self-system processes across the life span. *The self in transition: Infancy to childhood, 8*, 61-97.
- Connolly, P. (2006). The effects of social class and ethnicity on gender differences in GCSE attainment: a secondary analysis of the Youth Cohort Study of England and Wales 1997–2001. British Educational Research Journal, 32(1), 3-21.
- Craig, W. M., & Harel, Y. (2004). Bullying, physical fighting and victimization. In: C. Currie, C. Roberts, A. Morgan, R. Smith, W. Settertobulte, O. Samdal and Rasmusson, V. B., (Eds.), Young people's health in context: Health behaviour in school-aged children (HBSC) study: international report from the 2001/2002 survey, Copenhagen: World Health Organization Europe, 133-144.
- Croninger, R. G., & Lee, V. E. (2001). Social Capital and Dropping Out of High School: Benefits to At-Risk Students of Teachers' Support and Guidance. *Teachers College Record* 103(4), 548–81.
- Dale, R. (2010). *Early School Leaving, Lessons from research for policy makers*. NESSE. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Davalos, D. B., Chavez, E. L., & Guardiola, R. J. (1999). The effects of extracurricular activity, ethnic identification, and perception of school on student dropout rates. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *21*(1), 61-77
- Davis, H. A., Summers, J. J., & Miller, L. M. (2012). *An interpersonal approach to classroom management: Strategies for improving student engagement*. Corwin Press.
- De Witte, K., & Csillag, M. (2014). Does anybody notice? On the impact of improved truancy reporting on school dropout. *Education Economics*, 22(6), 549-568.
- Eccles, J. S. (1983). Expectancies, values, and academic behaviors. In: Spence, J. T. (ed). *Achievement and achievement motives : psychological and sociological approaches*. San Francisco: Freeman, 75-146.
- Eccles, J. S., & Midgley, C. (1989). Stage-environment fit: Developmentally appropriate classrooms for young adolescents. *Research on motivation in education, 3*, 139-186.
- Eisemon, T. O. (1997). Reducing Repetition: Issues and Strategies. *Fundamentals of Educational Planning Series, Number 55.*
- Elffers, L., & Oort, F. J. (2013). Great expectations: students' educational attitudes upon the transition to post-secondary vocational education. *Social Psychology of Education*, 1-22.
- Elffers, L., Oort, F. J., & Karsten, S. (2012). Making the connection: The role of social and academic school experiences in students' emotional engagement with school in post-secondary vocational education. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *22*(2), 242-250.
- European Commission (2010). *Europe 2020: A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth.* COM (2010) 2020 final. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/
- Eurostat (2016). Early leaver from education and training. Eurostat Statistics Explained. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-

explained/index.php/Glossary:Early_leaver_from_education_and_training

- Eurostat (2017). Early Leavers from education and training [tsdsc410]. Retrieved from: http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=tsdsc410&lang=en
- Evans, G. (2006). *Educational Failure and Working Class White Children in Britain*. Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillan.

- Fall, A. M., & Roberts, G. (2012). High School Dropouts: Interactions Between Social Context, Self-perceptions, School Engagement, and Student Dropout. *Journal of Adolescence*, *35*(4), 787–798.
- Fan, W., & Williams, C. M. (2010). The effects of parental involvement on students' academic self-efficacy, engagement and intrinsic motivation. *Educational Psychology*, *30*(1), 53-74.
- Ferguson, B., Tilleczek, K., Boydell, K., Rummens, J. A., Cote, D., & Roth-Edney, D. (2005). Early school leavers: Understanding the lived reality of student disengagement from secondary school. *Final Report submitted to the Ontario Ministry of Education*.
- Finn, J. D., Pannozzo, G. M., & Voelkl, K. E. (1995). Disruptive and inattentive-withdrawn behavior and achievement among fourth graders. *The Elementary School Journal*, *95*(5), 421-434.
- Finn, J. D. (1989). Withdrawing from school. *Review of educational research*, 59(2), 117-142.
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: Potential of the concept, state of the evidence. *Review of educational research*, 74(1), 59-109.
- Fredricks, J., McColskey, W., Meli, J., Mordica, J., Montrosse, B., & Mooney, K. (2011). Measuring Student Engagement in Upper Elementary through High School: A Description of 21 Instruments. Issues & Answers. REL 2011-No. 098. *Regional Educational Laboratory Southeast*.
- Gillborn, D. (1997). Ethnicity and educational performance in the United Kingdom: Racism, ethnicity, and variability in achievement. Anthropology & Education Quarterly, 28(3), 375-393.
- Goodenow, C. (1993). Classroom belonging among early adolescent students relationships to motivation and achievement. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, *13*(1), 21-43.
- Green, J., Liem, G. A. D., Martin, A. J., Colmar, S., Marsh, H. W., & McInerney, D. (2012). Academic motivation, self-concept, engagement, and performance in high school: Key processes from a longitudinal perspective. *Journal of adolescence*, *35*(5), 1111-1122.
- Greene, B. A., Miller, R. B., Crowson, H. M., Duke, B. L., & Akey, K. L. (2004). Predicting high school students' cognitive engagement and achievement: Contributions of classroom perceptions and motivation. *Contemporary educational psychology*, *29*(4), 462-482.
- Harel, Y. (1999). A cross-national study of youth violence in Europe. *International journal of adolescent medicine and health*, *11*(3-4), 121-134.
- Henry, K. L., Knight, K. E., & Thornberry, T. P. (2012). School disengagement as a predictor of dropout, delinquency, and problem substance use during adolescence and early adulthood. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, *41*(2), 156-166.
- Holland, J., Reynolds, T., & Weller, S. (2007). Transitions, networks and communities: The significance of social capital in the lives of children and young people. *Journal of youth studies, 10*(1), 97-116.
- Homel, J., & Ryan, C. (2014). *Educational outcomes: the impact of aspirations and the role of student background characteristics*. Adelaide: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.
- House of Commons. Education Committee(2014). Underachievement in Education by White Working Class Children. First Report of Session 2014-15. Retrieved from: https://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmeduc/142/142.pdf
- Jacobs, J. E., Lanza, S., Osgood, D. W., Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Changes in children's selfcompetence and values: Gender and domain differences across grades one through twelve. *Child development*, *73*(2), 509-527.
- Janosz, M., Archambault, I., Morizot, J., & Pagani, L. S. (2008). School engagement trajectories and their differential predictive relations to dropout. *Journal of social Issues*, *64*(1), 21-40.

- Jimerson, S. R., Campos, E., & Greif, J. L. (2003). Toward an understanding of definitions and measures of school engagement and related terms. *The California School Psychologist*, 8(1), 7-27.
- Jonsson, J. O., & Rudolphi, F. (2011). Weak performance—strong determination: school achievement and educational choice among children of immigrants in Sweden. *European Sociological Review*, 27(4), 487-508.
- Kintrea, K., St Clair, R., & Houston, M. (2011). *The Influence of Parents, Places and Poverty on Educational Attitudes and Aspirations*. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation
- Kaye, N., D'Angelo, A., Ryan, L., & Lőrinc, M. (2015). Students' survey (A1): Preliminary analysis. *Reducing Early School Leaving in Europe, Project Paper 5*
- Lam, S. F., Wong, B. P., Yang, H., & Liu, Y. (2012). Understanding student engagement with a contextual model. In: Christenson, S. L., Reschly, A. L., & Wylie, C. (Eds). *Handbook of research on student engagement*. Springer US, 403-419.
- Lamb, S. (2004). *Early school leaving in Tasmania: Origins and outcomes: Report based on the results from the 2001 year 10 cohort study.* Hobart: Department of Education.
- Lamb, S., Markussen, E., Teese, R., Sandberg, N., & Polesel, J. (Eds.). (2011). *School Dropout and Completion: international comparative studies in theory and policy*. Dordrecht-Heidelberg-London-New York: Springer
- Lareau, A. (2003). *Unequal Childhoods: Class, Race and Family Life*. Berkeley, CA:University of California Press
- Laufer, A., & Harel, Y. (2003). The role of family, peers and school perceptions in predicting involvement in youth violence. *International journal of adolescent medicine and health*, *15*(3), 235-244.
- Lloyd-Smith, M., & Davies, J. D. (Eds.). (1995). *On the margins: The educational experience of 'problem' pupils*. Stylus Publishing, LLC.
- Marks, G. N., Fleming, N., Long, M., & McMillan, J. (2000). Patterns of Participation in Year 12 and Higher Education in Australia: Trends and Issues. *Research Report. Longitudinal Surveys of Australian Youth*.
- Marks, G. N., Cresswell, J., & Ainley, J. (2006). Explaining socioeconomic inequalities in student achievement: The role of home and school factors. *Educational research and Evaluation*, *12*(02), 105-128.
- Marsh, H. W. (2007). Students' evaluations of university teaching: Dimensionality, reliability, validity, potential biases and usefulness. In: Perry, R. P., & Smart, J. C. (Eds.). *The scholarship of teaching and learning in higher education: An evidence-based perspective*. Springer Netherlands, 319-383.
- Masten, A. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Developmental cascades. *Development and psychopathology*, 22(3), 491-495.
- McCoach, D. B. (2002). A validation study of the school attitude assessment survey. *Measurement and evaluation in counseling and development*, *35*(2), 66-77.
- Newmann, F. (ed.). (1992). *Student engagement and achievement in American secondary schools*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Ogbu, J. (1992). Understanding Cultural Diversity and Learning. *Educational Researcher 21,* 5-14.
- Oseguera, L., Conchas, G. Q., & Mosqueda. E. (2011). Beyond Family and Ethnic Culture Understanding the Preconditions for the Potential Realization of Social Capital. *Youth & Society 43*(3), 1136–1166.
- Osterman, K. F. (2000). Students' need for belonging in the school community. *Review of educational re*search, 70(3), 323-367.
- Pianta, R. C., Hamre, B. K., & Allen, J. P. (2012). Teacher-student relationships and engagement: Conceptualizing, measuring, and improving the capacity of classroom interactions. In: Christenson, S. L., Reschly, A. L., & Wylie, C. (Eds). Handbook of research on student engagement. Springer US, 365-386.

- Pintrich, P. R., & Zusho, A. (2002). The development of academic self-regulation: The role of cognitive and motivational factors. In; Wigfield, A., & Eccles, J. S. (Eds). *Development of achievement motivation.* San Diego: Academic Press, 249-284.
- Poole, M. E. (1978). Identifying early school leaving. Australian Journal of Education, 22(1), 13-24.
- Portes, A. (2000). The Two Meanings of Social Capital. Sociological Forum 15(1), 1-12.
- Portes, A., & MacLeod, D. (1996). Educational progress of children of immigrants: The roles of class, ethnicity, and school context. *Sociology of Education*, 69, 255-275.
- Quin, D. (2017). Longitudinal and Contextual Associations Between Teacher–Student Relationships and Student Engagement A Systematic Review. *Review of Educational Research.* 87(2), 345-387.
- Reay, D. (2001). Finding or losing yourself?: working-class relationships to education. *Journal of Education Policy*, *16*(4), 333-346.
- Reay, D. (2004). Education and Cultural Capital: The Implications of Changing Trends in Education Policies. *Cultural Trends*, 13(2), 73–86.
- Reay, D. (2006). The zombie stalking English schools: Social class and educational inequality. *British Journal of educational studies, 54*(3), 288-307.
- Reay, D. (2009). Making sense of white working class educational underachievement, in Pall Sveinsson, K. (Ed), *Who Cares about the White Working Class?* (p. 22–28). London: Runnymede.
- Reay, D., David, M., & Ball, S. (2005). *Degrees of Choice: Social Class, Race and Gender in Higher Education*. Stoke-on-Trent: Trentham
- Rumberger, R., & Lim, S. A. (2008). Why students drop out of school: A review of 25 years of research. *California Dropout Research Project. Policy Brief*, 15.
- Rumberger, R. W. (1995). Dropping out of middle school: A multilevel analysis of students and schools. *American educational Research journal*, *32*(3), 583-625.
- Rumberger, R. W. (2004). What can be done to prevent and assist school dropouts. *Intervention with children and adolescents: An interdisciplinary perspective*, 311-334.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2009). Promoting self-determined school engagement. In: Wentzel, K. R., & Miele, D. B. (Eds.) *Handbook of motivation at school*, New York/Abingdon: Routledge, 171-195.
- Sakiz, G., Pape, S. J., & Hoy, A. W. (2012). Does perceived teacher affective support matter for middle school students in mathematics classrooms?. *Journal of school Psychology*, *50*(2), 235-255.
- Shavelson, R. J., Hubner, J. J., & Stanton, G. C. (1976). Self-concept: Validation of construct interpretations. *Review of educational research*, 46(3), 407-441.
- Shildrick, T., & MacDonald, R. (2007). Biographies of exclusion: poor work and poor transitions. *International journal of lifelong education*, *26*(5), 589-604.
- Shin, R., Daly, B., & Vera, E. (2007). The relationships of peer norms, ethnic identity, and peer support to school engagement in urban youth. *Professional School Counseling*, *10*(4), 379-388.
- Skinner, E. A., & Belmont, M. J. (1993). Motivation in the classroom: Reciprocal effects of teacher behavior and student engagement across the school year. *Journal of educational psychology*, *85*(4), 571.
- Skinner, E. A., & Pitzer, J. R. (2012). Developmental dynamics of student engagement, coping, and everyday resilience. In: Christenson, S. L., Reschly, A. L., & Wylie, C. (Eds). Handbook of research on student engagement. Springer US, 21-44.
- Skinner, E., Furrer, C., Marchand, G., & Kindermann, T. (2008). Engagement and disaffection in the classroom: Part of a larger motivational dynamic? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *100*(4), 765-781.

- Skinner, E. A., Kindermann, T. A., & Furrer, C. J. (2009). A motivational perspective on engagement and disaffection: Conceptualization and assessment of children's behavioral and emotional participation in academic activities in the classroom. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 69(3), 493-525.
- Stahl, G. (2015). Identity, Neoliberalism and Aspiration: Educating white working-class boys. Routledge.
- Strand, S. (2014). Ethnicity, gender, social class and achievement gaps at age 16: Intersectionality and 'Getting it' for the white working class. Research Papers in Education, 29(2), 131-171.
- Totura, C. M. W., Green, A. E., Karver, M. S., & Gesten, E. L. (2009). Multiple informants in the assessment of psychological, behavioral, and academic correlates of bullying and victimization in middle school. *Journal of Adolescence*, *32*(2), 193-211.
- Vincent, C., & Ball, S. J. (2007). Making up'the middle-class child: families, activities and class dispositions. *Sociology*, *41*(6), 1061-1077.
- Vincent, C., Rollock, N., Ball, S., & Gillborn, D. (2012). Being strategic, being watchful, being determined: Black middle-class parents and schooling. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *33*(3), 337-354.
- Wang, M. T., & Eccles, J. S. (2012). Social support matters: Longitudinal effects of social support on three dimensions of school engagement from middle to high school. *Child development*, *83*(3), 877-895.
- Wang, M. T., & Fredricks, J. A. (2014). The reciprocal links between school engagement, youth problem behaviors, and school dropout during adolescence. *Child development*, *85*(2), 722-737.
- Wang, M. T., Willett, J. B., & Eccles, J. S. (2011). The assessment of school engagement: Examining dimensionality and measurement invariance by gender and race/ethnicity. *Journal of School Psychology*, 49(4), 465-480.
- Willis, P. E. (1997). *Learning to Labour. How working class kids get working class jobs*. Columbia University Press.

Appendices

Early School Leaving - final stepwise logistic regression model

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Constant	-24.823**	-19.853	-18.934
Gender (<i>Ref: Female</i>)	.925**	.729 ^{**}	.680**
Migrant background (Ref: Native)	.602 [*]	.738**	.781**
Country of survey (Ref: Belgium)			
Netherlands	811**	711 [*]	245
Poland	1.531**	1.777***	1.850^{**}
Portugal	.291	.130	.078
Spain	.688 [°]	.570	.558
UK	17.315	16.920	17.055
Sweden	1.259 [°]	1.558 [*]	1.588^{*}
Truancy		.196 [*]	.172 [°]
Academic grades		336**	256 [*]
School Engagement		-1.111**	898**
Educational expectations			196 ^{**}
Parents' educational aspirations			247 [*]
Model pseudo R ²	.123	.180	.211

** p < .01 * p < .05 ° p < .10

Educational Expectations - final stepwise regression model

	Ste	ep 1	Ste	ep 2	Ste	ep 3	Step 4	
	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta
(Constant)	6.695		6.078		4.286		3.655	
Gender	.380	.112***	.270	.080**	.191	.056**	.103	.030 [*]
Cohort	.324	.096***	.394	.117***	.434	.129 ^{**}	.314	.093 ^{**}
Migrant background	.041	.012	.112	.032 [*]	.038	.011	039	011
Country of survey (Ref=Netherlands)								
Country of survey = Belgium	.660	.150***	.806	.183 ^{**}	.746	.169**	371	084 ***
= Poland	.504	.109 **	.051	.011	.231	.050	935	203 **
Country of Survey = Portugal	.824	.142	.701	.121	.597	.103	688	119
= Spain	1.096	.279	.694	.177	.597	.152	439	112
Country of survey = UK	.408	.090	325	072	365	081	-1.308	289
Vocational track			971	282 ^{**}	851	247***	558	162 ^{**}
Academic grades			.336	.192 ^{**}	.189	.108 ^{**}	.095	.054 ^{**}
Occupational aspirations					012	146 ^{**}	008	105**
Importance of education					.363	.147**	.228	.092**
Academic self-concept					.308	.111***	.206	.074 ^{**}
Parents' educational expectations							.407	.284 ^{**}
Teachers' educational expecta- tions							.190	.170 ^{**}
Peer aspirations							.083	.038 [*]
Adj. R ²	.0	64	.1	56	.2	16	.2	99

p < .01 ^{*} p < .05

***Educational Expectations by country - final regression model (standardized beta values) ***

	Belgium	Netherlands	Poland	Portugal	Spain	UK	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender	.025	.041	.028	.019	.018	.003	.030 [*]
Cohort	.072**	.077 [*]	.044 [*]	.065	.085**	.186 ^{**}	.093**
Migrant background	075 ^{**}	.063*	021	035	021	008	011
Academic grades	.005	.023	.048	094*	.064*	.175 ^{**}	.054**
Vocational track	095***	224**	117***	204 ^{**}	057 [*]	.030	162**
Importance of education	.094**	.124**	.154 ^{**}	.073	.003	.057 [*]	.092**
Academic self-concept	.049	.140 ^{**}	.107**	.188 ^{**}	.010	.088**	.074 ^{**}
Occupational aspirations [°]	148**	060*	202**	137**	034	103**	105 ^{**}
Peer aspirations	.008	.041	.046 [*]	.104 **	.029	002	.038 ^{**}
Parents' educational ex- pectations	.309**	.153**	.293 ^{**}	.049	.307**	.198 ^{**}	.284**
Teachers' educational expectations	.158**	.151**	.107**	.114 ^{**}	.143 ^{**}	.119 ^{**}	.170 [*]
Adj. R ²	.326	.201	.518	.216	.236	.277	.299

^{*} p < .01 ^{*} p < .05

School Engagement - final stepwise regression model

	Ste	ep 1	Ste	ep 2	Ste	ep 3	Ste	ep 4	Ste	p 5
	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta
(Constant)	3.462		1.577		1.010		.586		.473	
Gender	.107	.111***	.133	.138 ^{**}	.100	.104**	.082	.085**	.071	.074 ^{**}
Cohort	020	020	.017	.017 [*]	.005	.005	.017	.018 [*]	.017	.017 [*]
Migrant background	.077	.077**	.054	.054 ^{**}	.052	.052**	.055	.055**	.052	.052**
Country of survey (Ref=Netherlands)										
Country of = Belgium	.178	.127**	.186	.133**	.139	.100**	.147	.106**	.148	.106**
= Poland	.159	.116**	.406	.296**	.376	.274**	.395	.288**	.397	.290**
Country of = Portugal	.223	.144**	.312	.202**	.221	.143**	.234	.152**	.221	.143**
= Spain	.304	.270**	.352	.313**	.285	.254**	.309	.275**	.291	.259**
Country of = Sweden	.189	.104**	.219	.120**	.146	.080**	.114	.062**	.095	.052**
= UK	.275	.210**	.334	.255**	.257	.196 ^{**}	.250	.191**	.212	.162**
Academic grades			.028	.059 ^{**}	.030	.063**	.032	.067**	.031	.065**
Level of truancy			086	210 ^{**}	070	170 ^{**}	057	139 ^{**}	053	129 ^{**}
Educational expectations			.024	.093**	.021	.079 ^{**}	.018	.069**	.015	.058 ^{**}
Academic self-concept			.284	.370 ^{**}	.198	.258 ^{**}	.185	.241**	.183	.239 ^{**}
Self-esteem			.127	.207**	.100	.162**	.077	.125**	.076	.123**
Teachers' educational expectations					.017	.053**	.017	.053**	.015	.046**
Positive perceived teacher support					.230	.332**	.200	.289 ^{**}	.192	.276 ^{**}
Negative student- teacher interactions°					.051	.078 ^{**}	.054	.081**	.053	.080**
Perceived parental support							.045	.068**	.041	.062**
Parental involvement at school							.031	.060***	.028	.055***
Parental control							.036	.063**	.030	.053**
Neighbourhood envi- ronment							.026	.047***	.023	.040***
Neighbourhood safety							.027	.048**	.024	.042**
Peer aspirations									.071	.114**
Adj. R ²	.0	51	.3	96	.5	21	.5	45	.5	55

^{**} p < .01 ^{*} p < .05

***School Engagement by country - final regression model (standardized beta values) ***

	Belgium	Nether- lands	Poland	Portugal	Spain	Sweden	UK	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender	.074**	.047 [*]	.053**	.085**	.096**	.130**	.041*	.074**
Cohort	012	.133 ^{**}	067***	062 [*]	.042**	.054 [*]	.019	.017 [*]
Migrant background	.095**	.069**	022	.038	.056**	.115**	003	.052**
Academic grades	.018	.061**	.030	.098**	.131**	015	.013	.065**
Level of truancy	138 ^{**}	208 ^{**}	076 ^{**}	089 ^{**}	156 ^{**}	109 ^{**}	088**	129 ^{**}
Educational expectations	.047 [*]	.077**	.076***	.051 [*]	.064**	.071 [*]	.059**	.058**
Academic self-concept	.188 ^{**}	.172**	.240 ^{**}	.284**	.239 ^{**}	.252**	.287 ^{**}	.239 ^{**}
Self-esteem	.170 ^{**}	.105**	.158 ^{**}	.100 ^{**}	.101**	.121**	.111***	.123**
Educational expecta- tions of teachers	.042	.011	.069**	.070 ^{**}	.072**	.039	.024	.046**
Perceived teacher support	.265**	.303**	.279**	.241**	.230 ^{**}	.338**	.264**	.276**
Negative student- teacher interactions ^o	.137**	.086**	.019	.067*	.102**	.008	.102**	.080**
Perceived parental support	.079 [*]	.043	.033	.051	.087**	.026	.051*	.062**
Parental involvement at school	.012	.098**	.052**	.019	.061**	.022	.058 [*]	.055**
Parental control	.050 [*]	.038	.081**	.066*	.036 [*]	.090***	.056**	.053**
Neighbourhood environment	.029	.061**	.097**	.072**	003	.023	.048 [*]	.040**
Neighbourhood safety	.030	.008	.089**	.038	.028	.123**	.026	.042**
Peer aspirations	.122**	.085**	.121**	.118**	.098**	.041	.132**	.114**
Adj. R ²	.490	.495	.614	.530	.584	.554	.565	.555

** p < .01 * p < .05

Behavioural Engagement - final stepwise regression model

	Ste	ep 1	Ste	ep 2	Ste	ep 3	Step 4	
	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta
(Constant)	3.872		3.441		2.955		3.216	
Gender	.379	.257**	.273	.185 ^{**}	.258	.175 ^{**}	.246	.166**
Cohort	.128	.087**	.096	.065**	.086	.058 ^{**}	.105	.072**
Migrant background	097	064**	103	068**	085	056 ^{**}	071	047**
Country of survey (Ref = Netherlands)								
Country of survey = Belgium	.239	.111***	.188	.088**	.134	.062**	.159	.074 ^{**}
= Poland	.392	.188 ^{**}	.368	.176 ^{**}	.363	.174 ^{**}	.379	.181 ^{**}
Country of survey = Portugal	.248	.106***	.261	.111***	.199	.085**	.212	.090***
= Spain	.386	.217 ^{**}	.324	.182 ^{**}	.284	.160 ^{**}	.308	.173 ^{**}
Country of survey = Sweden	.400	.148 ^{**}	.349	.129 ^{**}	.333	.123 ^{**}	.364	.135**
= UK	.262	.132***	.241	.121***	.190	.096***	.208	.105**
Victimization at school			456	288 ^{**}	410	259 ^{**}	373	235 ^{**}
Academic self-regulation			.094	.101**	.079	.085**	.082	.088**
Attentiveness at school			.074	.105 ^{**}	.051	.072**	.051	.072***
Neighbourhood environment			.090	.106 ^{**}	.075	.089 ^{**}	.060	.071***
Own educational expectations			.042	.068**	.029	.049**	.019	.031*
Perceived level of discrimination by teachers [°]					.091	.111***	.085	.104**
Negative student-teacher interac- tions [°]					.057	.057**	.046	.046**
Teachers' educational expecta- tions					.025	.053**	.022	.046***
Proportion of friends left educa- tion without ISCED 3							046	062**
Proportion of friends left educa- tion and have a job							041	054**
Proportion of friends left educa- tion and unemployed							034	036*
Adj. R ²	.1	14	.2	276	.2	95	.308	

***Behavioural Engagement by country - final regression model (standardized beta values) ***

	Belgium	Nether- lands	Poland	Portugal	Spain	Sweden	UK	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender	.213**	.122**	.160**	.212**	.155**	.162**	.174 ^{**}	.169**
Cohort	.063**	.059 [*]	.005	.046	.116 ^{**}	.033	.107 ^{**}	.069**
Migrant background	069**	001	035	.045	046***	100 ^{**}	086**	045**
Neighbourhood environment	.050 [*]	.087**	.160 ^{**}	.009	.121**	025	.062**	.137**
Educational expectations	.084**	.009	.046 [*]	.028	.039 [*]	056	014	.073**
Academic self-regulation	.100**	.105**	.088**	.044	.091**	.029	.083**	.027**
Attentiveness at school	.023	.129**	013	.065*	.076**	.066	.106**	.085**
Victimization at school	204 ^{**}	184 ^{**}	303**	278 ^{**}	173 ^{**}	303***	254**	.067**
Teachers' educational expectations	.014	020	.098**	.024	.118**	.101**	.080**	236 ^{**}
Perceived level of discrimination by teachers [°]	.111***	.080**	.081**	.118**	.098**	.094**	.129**	.055**
Negative student- teacher interactions	.091**	.090**	.044	.021	.016	.019	.059 [*]	.104**
Proportion of friends left education without ISCED 3	105**	092**	077*	.018	072**	044	052 [*]	.044**
Proportion of friends left education and unemployed	.025	029	012	068	091**	015	033	059**
Proportion of friends left education and have a job	098**	033	074	094**	016	.027	048 [*]	040**
Adj. R ²	.298	.239	.430	.287	.311	.192	.321	.308

* p < .01 * p < .05

Affective Engagement - final stepwise regression model

	Ste	ep 1	Step 2		Step 3		Step 4		Step 5	
	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta	В	Beta
(Constant)	3.299		.433		042		184		297	
Gender	.020	.010	032	016 [*]	063	031**	055	027**	069	034 ^{**}
Cohort	065	032**	087	043***	069	034 ^{**}	053	026***	057	028 ^{**}
Migrant background	002	001	015	007	039	019 [*]	035	017 [*]	029	014
Country of survey (Ref = Netherlands)										
Country = Belgium	.317	.107**	.282	.095**	.266	.090**	.267	.090**	.264	.089**
= Poland	.135	.050**	.379	.141**	.395	.147 ^{**}	.443	.165 ^{**}	.441	.164**
Country = Portugal	.606	.195 ^{**}	.566	.182 ^{**}	.545	.176 ^{**}	.571	.184 ^{**}	.562	.181 ^{**}
= Spain	.446	.180 ^{**}	.382	.154 ^{**}	.347	.140 ^{**}	.359	.145 ^{**}	.349	.141**
= UK	.694	.209 ^{**}	.666	.201**	.655	.197 ^{**}	.618	.187 ^{**}	.610	.184 ^{**}
= Sweden	.438	.158 ^{**}	.412	.148**	.380	.137**	.356	.128**	.357	.129 ^{**}
Positive perceived teacher support			.649	.479 ^{**}	.591	.436 ^{**}	.584	.430 ^{**}	.572	.422**
Negative student- teacher interactions°			.086	.064**	.075	.056**	.075	.056**	.075	.056**
Perceived level of discrimination by teachers°			.075	.070**	.076	.072**	.077	.072**	.077	.073**
Academic self- regulation					.048	.038 ^{**}	.036	.028**	.035	.028 ^{**}
Importance of educa- tion					.137	.101**	.126	.093**	.117	.087**
Parental involvement at school							.062	.059**	.058	.056**
Perceived peer-group support									.054	.041**
Adj. R ²	.0	46	.332		.332 .343		.345		.346	

p < .01 * p < .05

***Affective Engagement by country - final regression model (standardized beta values) ***

	Belgium	Nether- lands	Poland	Portugal	Spain	Sweden	UK	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender	019	024	093**	038	032 [*]	.022	037 [*]	034**
Cohort	019	.039	188 ^{**}	076 ^{**}	046***	.242**	.002	028 ^{**}
Migrant background	024	.006	012	012	.004	012	001	014
Positive perceived teacher support	.372**	.481 ^{**}	.398**	.411**	.434**	.420 ^{**}	.403**	.422**
Negative student- teacher interactions°	.060*	.031	.058**	013	.050**	.072**	.130**	.056**
Perceived level of discrimination by teachers°	.055*	.053 [*]	.101**	.084**	.078 ^{**}	.038	.050**	.073 ^{**}
Academic self- regulation	.040	.017	.013	.062**	.060**	.032	.064**	.028**
Importance of educa- tion	.042	.091**	.115 ^{**}	.090**	.092**	034	.112***	.087**
Parental involvement at school	.053**	.059**	.067**	.006	.040**	.061**	.066**	.056**
Perceived peer-group support	.048*	.005	.056**	.061**	.020	.091**	.028	.041**
Adj. R ²	.236	.334	.398	.278	.327	.345	.394	.346

** p < .01 * p < .05

Cognitive Engagement - final stepwise regression model

	Step 1		Step 2		Step 3		Step 4		Step 5	
	В	Beta								
(Constant)	3.306		2.733		.951		.398		.261	
Gender	.296	.188 ^{**}	.243	.154**	.229	.145**	.215	.136**	.215	.136 ^{**}
Cohort	008	005	.044	.028 [*]	.070	.044**	.086	.054**	.077	.049**
Migrant background	.155	.095**	.186	.114**	.109	.067**	.112	.069**	.111	.068**
Country of survey (Ref = UK)										
County = Belgium	193	085 ^{**}	111	049 ^{**}	129	057**	106	047**	101	044**
= Netherlands	185	076 ^{**}	133	055***	121	050 ^{**}	118	048 ^{**}	109	045**
County = Poland	210	100 ^{**}	.117	.056**	.121	.058 ^{**}	.185	.088**	.204	.097**
= Portugal	081	032*	.019	.008	.044	.018	.077	.031**	.066	.026**
County = Spain	007	004	.128	.068**	.069	.037**	.111	.059 ^{**}	.104	.055**
= Sweden	320	120 ^{**}	040	015	199	075 ^{**}	233	088**	225	085**
Academic grades			.150	.194 ^{**}	.051	.066***	.057	.073***	.062	.080***
Level of truancy be- haviour			168	259**	114	177***	097	149 ^{**}	094	146**
Importance of education					.244	.227***	.195	.181 ^{**}	.165	.154 ^{**}
Attentiveness at school					.148	.193 ^{**}	.141	.184 ^{**}	.132	.173 ^{**}
Academic self-concept					.168	.135 ^{**}	.141	.113**	.120	.096**
Parental control							.062	.067**	.059	.064**
Parental involvement at school							.063	.076***	.059	.072**
Perceived parental support							.083	.078 ^{**}	.064	.060**
Positive perceived teacher support									.130	.120**
Adj. R ²	.0	61	.163		.296		.317		.328	

* p < .01 * p < .05

***Cognitive Engagement by country - final regression model (standardized beta values) ***

	Belgium	Nether- lands	Poland	Portugal	Spain	Sweden	UK	Aggregate dataset (all countries)
Gender	.079**	.101**	.155**	.207**	.157 ^{**}	.128 ^{**}	.133 ^{**}	.136**
Cohort	.014	.086**	.128 ^{**}	.006	.085**	014	.043 [*]	.049**
Migrant background	.061**	.045	.015	.040	.062**	.165**	.016	.068**
Academic grades	.057**	.070 ^{**}	.124**	.122**	.159 ^{**}	.043	034	.080**
Level of truancy be- haviour	132**	222***	144**	100***	154**	127**	115 ^{**}	146**
Importance of education	.185 ^{**}	.152**	.235**	.107**	.105**	.137**	.114**	.154 ^{**}
Attentiveness at school	.270 ^{**}	.174 ^{**}	.031	.145**	.166**	.161**	.228**	.173**
Academic self-concept	.037	007	.123**	.132**	.096**	.089**	.164**	.096**
Parental control	.050 [*]	.016	.139 ^{**}	.051 [*]	.049**	.104**	.031	.064**
Parental involvement at school	.074**	.063*	.060**	.079**	.034	.083**	.112**	.072**
Perceived parental support	.037	.091**	.015	.054 [*]	.102**	.044	.038	.060**
Positive perceived teacher support	.132**	.101**	.064**	.137**	.127**	.143**	.142**	.120**
Model adj. R ²	.318	.265	.359	.300	.359	.368	.337	.328

** p < .01 * p < .05